

EFFECTS OF NANOPLASTICS ON FEMALE

REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF POLYSTYRENE NANOPLASTICS ON FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

By MAHSA GHOLIOF, HBSc

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Mahsa Gholiof, May 2024

McMaster University MASTER OF SCIENCE (2023) Hamilton, Ontario (Medical Sciences)

TITLE: INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF POLYSTYRENE NANOPLASTICS ON FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM

AUTHOR: Mahsa Gholiof, HBSc (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Mathew Leonardi

NUMBER OF PAGES: xv, 75

Lay Abstract

Plastics in the environment break down into smaller particles called micro- and nanoplastics. These plastic particles are pollutants present in the aquatic and terrestrial environments entering every level of the food chain and ultimately reaching humans, yet few studies have examined the effects of nanoplastics on human health. A recent World Health Organization (WHO) report on nanoplastics has stressed the urgent need for toxicological studies to assess potential human health effects. Therefore, this study examined the effect of nanoplastics on the female reproductive system. This study was carried out in female mice exposed orally to a solution containing a vehicle control (water) and two different concentrations of nanoplastics (100 and 1,000 µg/l). Exposure occurred daily for a period of 29 days. At the conclusion of the study the mice were humanly euthanized with their blood and reproductive tissues collected for laboratory analysis. Results showed that nanoplastics exposure resulted in irregular reproductive cycle in mice along with a decrease in antral follicle size and progesterone levels which are indicators of anovulation and can lead to disorders, such as infertility and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) which should be further investigated in future studies.

Abstract

Introduction

The degradation of plastic waste into smaller micro- and nanoplastic (MNPs) molecules has led to widespread distribution of these particles and accumulation in the environment, making human exposure inevitable. This can result in, or exacerbate, pathological conditions leading to immune dysfunction, neurodegenerative diseases, and infertility. Yet few studies have examined the effects of nanoplastics (NPs) on human health, especially the reproductive system. Reproductive toxicity of plastic particles has been mostly studied in males with most studies investigating microplastics. Therefore, the present study aims to assess the reproductive health consequences of NPs exposure in females by quantifying serum estradiol and progesterone, examining estrous cyclicity, and assessing ovarian reserve (number and quality of follicles) which is a key indicator of female fertility.

Materials & Methods

The present study was carried out in female mice (C57BL/6) exposed orally to water (control) or one of two solutions containing different concentrations of Polystyrene nanoplastics (PS-NPs; 100 μ g/l or 1000 μ g/l in water. Exposure occurred daily for 29 days, and vaginal lavage samples were collected for the last 15 days of the exposure phase to check for change in estrous cyclicity. Mice were euthanized at the end of the study and their blood samples and reproductive tissues were collected. Ovaries were fixed in 10% formalin, embedded in paraffin wax, serially sectioned at 5 μ m thickness, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for microscopy and follicle analysis. ELISA was also performed to quantify the progesterone and estradiol serum levels.

Results

There was a significant increase in the estrous cycle length in the high dose (1000 μ g/l) PS-NPs exposure group compared to control (5.53±.25 days vs 4.7±0.23 days, P=0.02). Moreover, there was a significant decrease in serum progesterone levels in the high-dose exposure group compared to control (mean difference=1.64 pg/ml, standard error of difference (SED)=0.64, P=0.03). Additionally, it was shown that PS-NPs exposure significantly reduced antral follicles' diameter in both the low dose (238.61±19.01 μ m vs 167.35±19.01 μ m, P=0.03) and high dose exposure groups compared to the control group with the higher dose showing a more pronounced reduction in antral follicle' size (238.61±19.01 μ m vs 131.95±19.01 μ m, P=0.001).

Conclusion

Oral PS-NPs exposure in female mice appears to induce toxicity by reducing antral follicles size, increasing the estrous cycle length, and decreasing progesterone levels which may result in anovulation and different reproductive issues, such as infertility and

polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). The effect of PS-NPs on infertility along with NPs' mechanism of action in female reproductive system should be investigated in future studies.

Acknowledgements

I am deeply thankful and consider myself fortunate to embark on the journey of pursuing my Master's degree. The opportunity to pursue one's aspirations and transform them into reality is a privilege that merits recognition. I firmly believe that acknowledging this privilege is just as crucial as recognizing the challenges faced by those less fortunate. There are individuals, especially women, who are unable to pursue their ambitions. They are deprived of many fundamental rights, such as the right to dream and take action. I'd like to acknowledge them and hope for a more just world where borders are not killers of dreams and geographical locations don't define one's opportunities and future. With that being said, I would like to extend my gratitude to my supervisor, committee members, mentors, friends, family, and all the amazing people who helped me in this journey. Dr. Leonardi, thank you for your support, guidance, and all the opportunities throughout my Master's journey. Thank you for allowing me to explore the field of women's health and gynecology research beyond my main project which has helped me learn so much and improve my research skills in both basic and clinical science. Additionally, thanks for always being open-minded towards new ideas and novel approaches to science. Your encouragement of creativity and outside-the-box thinking is greatly appreciated. Your passion and commitment to science and improving patients' lives and clinical care through research are an inspiration to me and many. Dr. Inman, thank you for your support and guidance throughout my Master's journey. There's a Persian saying that vaguely translates to: "In order to build a straight wall, you have to put the first layer of bricks properly. Basically, for a proper and functional building, the foundation matters the most." So, thank you for teaching me and many

vii

other graduate students the right research foundation, from ethics to methodology and analysis, as well as many other important lessons. It's been an absolute pleasure to be your student and a teaching assistant for MS 771, which has also contributed to my growth both academically and on an individual level.

Dr Foster, thank you for your help and guidance and for taking on this project despite the unusual circumstances. Your inspiring approach to science and your intriguing questions from the lab meetings back when I was an undergraduate student in your lab to my Master's project, has helped me develop my scientific thinking and approach to research problems. And for that I am grateful.

I also want to thank my mentor, Dr. Jocelyn Wessels, for all her help and ongoing support. Jocelyn, it's been an absolute pleasure to work with you and have you as my mentor for the past few years. From my thesis to my Master's project, I have learned so much from you both academically and on an individual level. Your love for science, persistence, and hardworking personality are an inspiration to people around you, including myself.

Next, I want to thank Ms. Victoria Turpin. Victoria, thank you for being a true friend and sharing your experience and perspective on matters. I appreciate the genuine care you have for your work and the people around you.

I would also like to acknowledge the amazing instructional assistants, Ryan Belowitz and Devon Jones, as well as the amazing lab technician, Chelsey Weatherup, at the School of Interdisciplinary Science, for allowing me to use their microscope room and capture my images. Ryan, your passion for science and improving the learning experience of students is truly impressive. I had an amazing experience serving as a

viii

teaching assistant for LIFESCI 3L03. Thank you for creating such a safe and friendly space, not only for students but also for the instructional team. I have learned so much from you and this amazing experience, lessons, and memories that I will cherish forever. Also, a big thank you to Mr. Kyle McGowan the former research coordinator at the department of obstetrics and gynecology. Kyle, thank you for your support and help. Your caring soul and compassionate personality combined with your love for science makes you great at what you do. And a huge shout out and thank you to Mrs. Jennifer Laframboise the amazing administrative assistant to Dr Leonardi. Jen, thank you for your support, encouragement, and for organizing and scheduling basically everything, which is one challenging job given Dr Leonardi's busy schedule. Jen, your smile and positive energy are contagious. They light up any room you step into and are a remedy for difficult times as well. I also want to thank the amazing Dr. Jayesh Tigdi, assistant professor and gynecological surgeon at McMaster, for his support and mentorship throughout my journey. Jay, your kind and caring soul, combined with your passion to help patients and improve clinical care through research, is inspiring and deeply appreciated. Thank you for all that you do and for all the great lessons you have taught me.To my friends and colleagues in the Medical Sciences program, professors, and the administrative team, thank you for your support and encouragement through my Master's journey. The opportunity to learn within a collaborative environment has been phenomenal and I will strive to promote the same qualities within my future endeavors. Lastly, I'm deeply grateful to my parents for enabling my pursuit of science and to my sister for her unwavering support. Their sacrifices and encouragement have been

ix

instrumental in bringing me to this moment. Without them, I wouldn't be here, let alone writing my thesis. So, thank you for making me feel privileged.

Table of contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Plastics Toxicity	1
1.1.1 Micro & Nanoplastics (MNPs)	3
1.2 MNPs & Aquatic Toxicity	6
1.2.1 MNPs Reproductive Toxicity in Aquatic Animals	7
1.3 MNPs in Terrestrial Environment	9
1.4 MNPS in Humans	10
1.4.1 Dietary Intake	10
1.4.2 Inhalation	11
1.4.3 Skin Contact	12
1.5 MNPs Toxicity Mechanism	13
1.5.1 Translocation and Biodistribution	13
1.5.2 Cellular Uptake	15
1.5.3 Internalization & Toxicity	16
1.6 Reproductive Toxicity	20
1.6.1 Male Reproductive Toxicity	20
1.6.2 Female Reproductive Toxicity	21
1.7 Summary & Objectives	24
2. Materials and Methods	25
2.1 Experimental Design	25
2.2 Vaginal Smears Collection	

2.3 Staining with Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) & Histomorphometric	
Analysis	
2.4 ELISA Analyses of Serum Reproductive Hormones	30
2.5 Statistical Analysis	31
3. Results	32
3.1 Effect of PS-NPs on Mice Body Mass	32
3.2 Effect of PS-NPs on Mice Estrous Cycle	33
3.3 Effect of PS-NPs on Estradiol and Progesterone Serum Level	35
3.4 Effect of PS-NPs on Follicle Count and Size	37
4. Discussion	43
4.1 Principal Findings and Implications	43
4.2 Strengths, Limitations & Future Directions	52
5. Conclusion	53
6. Reference List	54

List of Figures

Figure 1. Plastics cycle in the environment	5
Figure 2. MNPs routes of uptake in humans	10
Figure 3. Translocation and biodistribution of NPs upon ingestion, inhalation,	and skin
contact	15
Figure 4. Cellular uptake and internalization of NPs	19
Figure 5. Methodology Summary	26
Figure 6. Mice Vaginal Cytology	28
Figure 7. Imaging and stitching process of the ovary sections	30
Figure 8. Morphological Classification of Ovarian Follicles	31
Figure 9. Mice body Mass During PS-NPs Exposure.	33
Figure 10. Effect of PS-NPs on the length of proestrus, estrus, metestrus, and	l diestrus
cycle stages in mice.	34
Figure 11. Effect of PS-NPs on Mice Estrous Cycle length in mice	35
Figure 12. Effect of PS-NPs on estradiol level in female mice	
Figure 13. Effect of PS-NPs on progesterone level in female mice	37
Figure 14. Effect of PS-NPs on Follicle Count	39-40
Figure 15. Effect of PS-NPs on Follicle Size	41-42

List of Abbreviations and Definitions

Abbreviation	Definition
MNPs	Micro and nanoplastics
MPs	Microplastics
NPs	Nanoplastics
PS-MPs	Polystyrene microplastics
PS-NPs	Polystyrene nanoplastics
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
AMH	Anti-Müllerian hormone
AFC	Antral follicle count
RIRR	ROS-induced ROS-release
PCOS	Polycystic ovary syndrome
EDCs	Endocrine disrupting chemicals
SD	Standard deviation
SED	Standard error of difference
SEM	Standard error of the mean

Declaration of Academic Achievement

All the experiments, imaging, and subsequent analyses were performed by the author of this thesis. Ms. Victoria Turpin assisted with the ELISAs, and Dr Jocelyn Wessels acted as an additional reviewer for the estrous cycle stage identification and follicle type identification.

1. Introduction

1.1 Plastics toxicity

The impact of environmental contaminants on human health is a subject of ongoing concern. Among these concerns, the global production of plastics has garnered significant attention. This surge in plastic pollution coincides with the period of global industrialization and modernization, which has witnessed a substantial increase in the production and consumption of plastic items since the early 1950s (1,2). Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has contributed to the substantial rise in plastics production and pollution, amounting to approximately 700 million tons in the year 2020 alone (3). This includes the disposal of single-use face masks, gloves, gowns, COVID-19 testing kits, and eye protectors (4,5). Global plastics production has been estimated to exceed 1.1 billion metric tons by the year 2050, representing a surge of over 30% from current levels (6).

Plastics are generated by polymerization of different monomers or derived from combinations of a range of materials such as cellulose, starch and petrochemicals like crude oil, natural gas and coal (7). The most prevalent types of plastics produced globally include polyethylene (PE; 36%), polypropylene (PP; 21%), polyvinyl chloride (PVC; 12%), polystyrene (PS) and polyurethane, each comprising less than 10% of total global plastic production. These plastics are commonly found in different environmental compartments such as oceans, sludge, or soil (8).

Plastics in the environment originate from discarded consumer and manufacturing products with human activities playing a pivotal role in the escalating global plastic production. These activities include but are not limited to packaging and food waste, littering of single-use plastics, and insufficient waste management practices, such as open landfills (9–12). When plastics are not recycled or disposed of properly, they can end up in landfills where they may degrade and get released into the surrounding soil or water. Plastic debris on land can be transported into water bodies through runoff. Rainwater can carry plastic waste from streets, landfills, and other areas into storm drains, eventually leading to rivers, lakes, and oceans (13). Additionally, synthetic fibers from clothing, microbeads from personal care products, and other small plastic particles can pass through filtration systems and end up in rivers, lakes, and oceans (14). Over time, larger plastics can break down into smaller fragments called micro and nanoplastics (MNPs) via different factors, such as exposure to sunlight (photodegradation), physical forces (mechanical degradation), oxidative processes, biodegradation, and hydrolysis. MNPs are ubiquitous in the environment and can be transported over long distances by wind and water currents, infiltrating land, water bodies, and even the air (Figure 1) (15). Plastics will persist in the environment for hundreds of years due to their high ratio of aromatic compounds and consequent resistance to degradation, posing serious threats to ecosystems and wildlife (15) (Figure 1).

1.1.1 Micro & Nanoplastics (MNPs)

Microplastics (MPs) are typically defined as plastic particles that are less than 5 millimeters in size. However, they can vary greatly in size, ranging from microscopic to several millimeters in diameter (7,16). MPs are classified into primary and secondary sources. Primary MPs are manufactured in microscopic size and are designed for commercial use such as cosmetics and microfibers (17–19). Secondary MPs are from degradation and breakdown of larger plastics such as plastic bags and food packaging (19). Nanoplastics (NPs) are smaller, range between 1-1000 nm in size and are also divided into primary and secondary sources. Primary NPs are manufactured nano-sized plastic particles directly released into the environment for biomedical, industrial, and agricultural uses (17,20,21). Secondary NPs come from degradation of MPs and macro plastics, such as bulk plastics and plastic litter (22,23). NPs are used in the manufacturing of cosmetics, exfoliants, paints, toothpaste, medications, and abrasives making human exposure inevitable. Given their higher surface-to-volume ratio and surface reactivity, NPs likely represent a greater toxicity than MPs. Due to their small size, MNPs can be readily taken up by land or marine organisms and enter the food chain. This combined with their persistent non-biodegradable nature leads to chronic human exposure and intensified toxicity. Research has shown that the uptake and toxicity of MNPs are intricately linked to their size and duration of exposure (24).

In addition to their small size and persistent nature, MNPs contain different additives and can carry environmental pollutants which can further enhance their toxicity. Plastics additives are used during plastic processing to give them their desired characteristics,

such as the ability to tolerate extreme temperatures and pH levels. Additives can make up to 70% of the composition of some plastics (25). Additives can be heavy metals like chromium, lead, and cadmium (26–28) or organic compounds such as polybrominated diphenyl ethers [PBDEs], phthalates, organotins, perfluorinated compounds, and bisphenol A (BPA) (29,30). Some MNPs additives have been shown to be endocrine disruptors that can influence the expression of various hormone receptors and interfere with the synthesis, secretion, transport, or action of hormones, leading to endocrine and developmental abnormalities (31). Additionally, MNPs interact with the environment. Due to their high surface area MNPs act as vectors for microorganisms like bacteria and pollutants such as Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and dioxins. These pollutants are not only very resistant to degradation, but they also accumulate in animal fats and tissues and induce toxic effects (32,33).



Figure 1. Plastics cycle in the environment.

Plastics predominantly stem from human activities, notably the inadequate management of industrial waste and disposal of single-use plastics. Over time, these macroplastics degrade into smaller micro and nano-sized particles through weathering processes such as biodegradation, mechanical breakdown, and exposure to sunlight (photodegradation), resulting in the formation of secondary MNPs. Additionally, MNPs can be directly produced and introduced into the environment such as microbeads in cosmetics (primary MNPs). These particles disperse into water, soil, and air, where they are ingested by aquatic and terrestrial organisms, eventually finding their way into the human food chain. Created with BioRender.com.

1.2 MNPs & aquatic toxicity

The degradation of plastic waste into smaller MNPs, as well as their synthesis by various industries, has led to widespread distribution of these particles and their accumulation in aquatic wildlife species. MNPs tend to float on water due to their size and density (34). Upon entering aquatic environments MNPs get colonized by algae and microorganisms. It has been reported that upon exposure to the environment, microbial biofilms rapidly colonize plastic surfaces. Estimates suggest that plastic marine debris may harbor between 1000 and 15,000 metric tons of microbial biomass (35). This biomass accumulation increases MNP density and causes them to sink (36). Alternative pathways of sedimentation include adhering to microalgae or ingestion by zooplankton, followed by deposition within fecal pellets (37,38).

MNPs impact every trophic level and microalgae are the first level in the food chain that are also indispensable for the marine ecosystem equilibrium. MNPs seem to affect the well-being and growth of microalgae, induce oxidative stress, and reduce chlorophyll and photosynthesis (39,40). Zooplankton is the second food chain level and a study by Cole et al. has highlighted that polystyrene beads are ingested by zooplankton which negatively affects their health and leads to reduction of algae consumption as well (41). The ingestion of hazardous substances and MNPs facilitates their transfer from one trophic level to the subsequent one, resulting in bioaccumulation within the food chain. Given that MNPs do not undergo degradation, they persist in the digestive systems of marine organisms throughout the entire food chain, causing adverse biological and physical impacts on marine life (42,43). While large fish may not immediately manifest the effects of chemically contaminated MNPs upon ingestion, the gradual accumulation

of these particles could potentially lead to fatal consequences. Limited studies have delved into the fate of these particles in freshwater environments due to lack of standardized and reliable methods for sampling, detecting, and characterizing MNPs. Consequently, the level of toxicity that NPs pose to freshwater ecosystems remains uncertain. The existing studies on this subject are primarily laboratory-based and may not accurately replicate the same biological toxicity observed in natural environments (44).

With more than 890 fish species (mostly marine species), fish are the most reported organisms to contain MNPs in their bodies (45–47). MPs have been reported to exist in various fish species' brains, guts, livers, and gills (48). Furthermore, among aquatic organisms, bivalves, including mussels, oysters, and clams, constitute the second most extensively researched group, as highlighted by Li et al (49,50). MNPs are frequently identified in crabs and shrimps as well (51,52). These species are globally significant in aquatic food sources and are commonly consumed by organisms at high trophic levels, including humans. The widespread prevalence of MNPs in these organisms has a crucial role in amplifying health risks for consumers.

1.2.1 MNPs reproductive toxicity in aquatic animals

Several studies have demonstrated the adverse effects of both MPs and NPs on aquatic organisms, with NPs being identified as more harmful (53–55). For example, in zebrafish, NPs have been found to diminish locomotor activity and reduce body length (54), induce oxidative stress and impede microalgal growth in freshwater biofilms (55), and result in tissue accumulation and embryonic developmental toxicity (53), whereas

MPs exhibit negligible effects. These studies suggested that owing to their smaller dimensions and increased surface area, NPs possess a greater capacity to adsorb additional contaminants, rendering them more hazardous than MPs (56). Consequently, inadvertent ingestion of NPs by organisms is likely to result in more severe damage (57). An increasing body of research indicates that NPs can increase the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), elevate the activity of antioxidant enzymes, and modify gene expression patterns. These alterations can lead to adverse outcomes including oxidative stress, neurotoxicity, cytotoxicity, intestinal inflammation, and toxicity to the reproductive system (58–62). Given the widespread presence of NPs in the aquatic environment, there is limited information on the effect of NPs on reproductive system of aquatic vertebrates especially at environmentally realistic concentrations. Existing studies have shown that NPs can affect sperm mobility and velocity by binding to sperm membranes which results in reduction in fertilization rate in oysters (63,64). Moreover, PS-NPs exposure has been shown to affect the early development of zebrafish embryos in a size and dose-dependent manner (53). For example, exposure to 20 nm PS-NPs causes oxidative stress and DNA damage due to accumulation in the brain (65). 100 nm PS-NPs exposure has been shown to activate oxidative stress and base excision repair pathways which caused a reduction in heart rate and body length. Similarly, hatching and survival of zebrafish embryos was decreased as well (66). Moreover, 100 nm PS-NPs exposure at a higher dose exacerbated oxidative stress in oocytes, resulting in oocyte apoptosis and impaired reproductive function in zebrafish (67). Additionally, a recent study on zebrafish has revealed that NPs exposure resulted in higher testosterone levels and decreased fecundity in females along with a reduced

proportion of mature spermatocytes in the testis and developmental impairments in the F1 generation (68). NPs have also been shown to delay gonadal maturation by inhibiting oogenesis and spermatogenesis in medaka (69).

Overall, existing literature showed that exposure to MNPs can trigger a range of toxicological effects in aquatic animals including oxidative stress (70) and reproductive abnormalities (71,72). Zooplankton, planktivorous fish, and piscivorous fish directly ingest MNPs within the aquatic ecosystem. MNPs will then be transferred up the food chain eventually reaching terrestrial animals and humans (73).

1.3 MNPs in terrestrial environment

MNPs are also found in terrestrial environments, with MP contamination reported to be 4 to 23 times higher in land compared to oceans (74). Every year, between 44,000 and 300,000 tons of MPs are deposited into the agricultural soil of North America (75). MNPs are taken up by land animals, through ingestion, inhalation via lungs or gills (e.g., land crabs), and epidermal infiltration (76–78). Studies have reported that terrestrial animals such as rodents, birds, chicken, snails, earthworms, and humans are mostly exposed to MNPs through ingestion (79–81). For example, up to 2019 MNPs have been detected in the digestive system of approximately 87,000 individuals (46). Ingestion of MNPs can cause damage at the organ, tissue, and cellular level, such as inflammation, gut blockage, DNA damage, hepatotoxicity, neurotoxicity, mortality, and reproductive toxicity in terrestrial organisms (82–84).

1.4 MNPS in humans

The presence of plastic particles in food, drinking water and in the atmosphere indicates that human exposure is inevitable. Human exposure to MNPs can occur via ingestion, inhalation, and dermal contact. (85,86) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. MNPs routes of uptake in humans. Humans can be exposed to MNPs through ingestion, inhalation, and skin contact. Created with BioRender.com.

1.4.1 Dietary intake

In 2018, plastic particles were found in the stool of eight people for the first time and researchers estimated that more than half of the world population may have MPs in their stool (87). This confirmed humans' exposure through ingestion which varies based on age, lifestyle, sex, and diet. MNPs can be found in food packaging, drinking water,

table salt (1–10 MPs/kg) and food (88,89). A Chinese study looked at different water samples within the country and found MNPs in 38 tap water samples from different cities with the proportion of smaller particles (<40 µm) being the greatest (90). Another study looked at different bottled water brands and found that 93% were contaminated with MNPs (91). MNPs originating from environmental pollution have infiltrated lower-level animals and plants, thus entering the human food chain and posing a significant threat to food safety (92). For example, it has been reported that consumption of the soft tissues of bivalves from Germany can expose humans to 0.36 particles/g of MPs and bivalves from Belgium, France, and Netherlands resulted in exposure of 0.2 particles/g MPs (93,94). Moreover, it has been shown that MNPs get released from plastic food packaging and containers under high temperatures leading to food contamination (95). The average mass of ingested plastics in adults has been estimated at 4.1 µg per week (96) corresponding to 50 plastic bags per year (97) (Figure 2).

1.4.2 Inhalation

Inhalation is another MNPs exposure route for humans. It has been estimated that on average an individual inhales up to 130 MPs per day (98). MPs has been reported to make up 4% of indoor air and sources of airborne MPs include construction materials, road-wear particles, landfills, sewage, synthetic textiles, abrasions of plastic materials, and waste incineration (86,99–102). These plastic particles can reach the respiratory system and cause adverse health effects in humans (103,104). The smaller the plastic particles, the further they can penetrate the airways, leading to more severe health consequences. Particles smaller than 2.5 µm are more prone to reaching alveolar sacs,

translocating from epithelial to endothelial cells, and permeating the capillaries (105). Consequently, NPs have the capacity to disperse throughout the human body by entering the circulatory system (106) (Figure 2).

1.4.3 Skin contact

Another route of MNPs exposure is through skin contact. Major sources of skin exposure are microbeads in personal care and cosmetic products and atmospheric fallout of synthetic fibers (107,108). Exposure through skin contact can be significant. For instance, a single laundry cycle can release millions of fibrous MNPs into the environment (109). Similarly, wearing a single synthetic fiber sweatshirt can emit tens of thousands of microplastic particles (110). It has been reported that NPs can pass through dermal barriers (85). Skin has four layers: the stratum corneum, viable dermis, dermis and the subcutaneous connective tissue (111). The stratum corneum is the outermost layer and forms a defensive barrier against injuries, chemicals and pathogens (112,113). Since MNPs are hydrophobic, it is predicted that absorption through the stratum corneum is unlikely; however, plastic particles can be transported through the skin barrier via the transappendageal pathway, which involves passage across hair follicles, sebaceous glands, and sweat glands (112). It is important to note that transport of MNPs across the skin is size dependent. For example, in a study by Vog et al, a notable concentration of Langerhans cells (dendritic cells) was observed surrounding hair follicles. These cells demonstrated an ability to internalize nanoparticles of assorted sizes. However, the transport across the epidermis was found to be limited to particles measuring 40 nm or less in their experimental model (114).

Comprehensive research is necessary to investigate the precise amount of MNPs that can penetrate the skin (Figure 2).

1.5 MNPs mechanism of toxicity

Presently, there is limited research on the mechanism of toxicity of MNPs, with most studies focusing on assessing morphological changes. The few mechanistic studies conducted have primarily used animal or *in vitro* models. To our knowledge, there are no *in vivo* studies involving humans to date. The current evidence indicates that the accumulation of MNPs in mammalian and human tissues may have adverse long-term effects. Although the exact nature of these consequences remains uncertain, current literature employing various test models indicates the translocation and distribution of MNPs from the primary exposure site to distant locations within the body (115,116).

1.5.1 Translocation and biodistribution

Upon ingestion and inhalation, MNPs encounter different host defense mechanisms. The first line is the mucus layer covering the epithelial barrier. Within the gut, the mucus layer lines the inner layer of the digestive tract, playing a vital role in preserving intestinal homeostasis (117). Similarly, the lungs contain goblet cells within the epithelial layer, which generate mucus to entrap inhaled particles (118). Following entrapment in the mucus layer, particles, including plastic particles, may reach the epithelial layer, encountering two potential pathways for crossing this barrier. Smaller particles (<100 nm) are transported transcellularly through the epithelium by endocytosis and larger particles are transported paracellularly (119–122). For example, within the lungs, particles smaller than 10 μ m typically become trapped in the nasopharyngeal area by hair and mucus, while those smaller than 2.5 μ m can reach the bronchioles and alveoli. Particles smaller than 0.1 μ m can directly translocate across the alveolar epithelium via the transcellular route (118,123).

Paracellular transport is primarily governed by junctional complexes, including tight junctions, adherence junctions, and desmosomes. Tight junctions, located at the apicalmost position, serve as adhesive complexes that seal the intercellular space, presenting a challenge for the paracellular transport of particles (124). Nonetheless, goblet cells intervene by disrupting the network of tight junctions, thereby loosening the connections between epithelial cells and adjacent goblet cells. This facilitates the paracellular transport of MNPs (122,125). After MNPs cross the epithelium, they encounter another line of defense which are immune cells such as dendritic cells, macrophages, T and B lymphocytes, mast cells, and eosinophils. These immune cells reside underneath the interstitium of the lung, the dermis of the skin or within the lamina propria, deep to the dermis (126). The exact transport mechanism of MNPs that may trigger inflammatory responses has not been fully investigated. However, it has been shown that MNPs can be phagocytosed and internalized by macrophages (127-129) which can trigger an inflammatory response resulting in cytokine secretion (130) or MNPs will migrate into the mesenteric lymph nodes and trigger an immune response there. Following immune response activation, MNPs can travel through the lymph vessels, reaching the thoracic duct, entering the blood stream and distributing throughout the organism (131–135) (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Translocation and biodistribution of NPs upon ingestion, inhalation, and skin contact. MNPs are ubiquitous in the environment resulting in constant exposure. Upon ingestion, inhalation, and skin contact, MNPs encounter different barriers, including mucosal surfaces, epithelial barriers, and immune cells. They can cross these barriers and enter the circulatory system, reaching various organs in the body. Created with BioRender.com.

1.5.2 Cellular uptake

After absorption into the body, MNPs interact with cells depending on size and surface properties and encounter different macromolecules, such as lipids, carbohydrates and proteins (136). Once NPs enter the biological milieu and encounter tissues, they are exposed to protein molecules and form a complex known as a "corona" (137).

Coronas have been shown to modulate transportation, internalization, biodistribution, and elimination of MNPs within biological systems (138,139). Walczyk and colleagues showed that protein coronas significantly increase NPs interactions with the environment (140). Cao et al demonstrated that protein coronas facilitate entry and translocation of NPs into the cell at higher rates (141). In vitro studies have also reported higher translocation rates of NPs due to protein coronas (142). Additionally, protein coronas trigger physiochemical changes affecting MNPs behaviour and toxicity (141). This has been reported in mice and zebrafish studies (143,144).

1.5.3 Internalization & toxicity

MNPs can get internalized into the cell via passive or active transport. Passive transport takes place when there is a difference in concentration of MNPs inside and outside of the cell. Active transport works against MNPs concentration and requires ATP (125). Under a normal physiological state only passive transport can take place given that MNPs can pass through the surface pores. This is called size-dependent internalization of MNPs. For example, it has been demonstrated that 50 and 500 nm PS-NPs showed significant penetration and distribution in lipid membranes (145) while no cellular uptake was reported for 3–5 µm MPs (146). This further suggests the size, corona compounds, shape, and surface modifications affect MNP mode of transport (125,147). In addition to passive transport, MNPs can penetrate cellular barriers through endocytosis which is an active internalization pathway and typically includes phagocytosis and pinocytosis (clathrin- and caveolae-mediated endocytosis, clathrin/caveolin-independent pathways, macropinocytosis) (148–150). Xu and colleagues identified macropinocytosis and

clathrin-mediated endocytosis as the primary mechanisms for NPs uptake in an immortalized intestinal epithelial cell line (Caco-2) (151) Internalization of MNPs starts with cellular membrane damage leading to intracellular biological effects, change in fluidity, and eventually leading to cell death and apoptosis (152–154). Following internalization, MNPs can permeabilize the endosomal membrane and be released into the cytosol. Once they enter the cytosol, they can interact with different organelles such as mitochondria and the nucleus and affect important cellular processes such as mitotic spindle formation and migration of chromosomes during cell division. MNPs could also interfere with the trafficking of transport carriers in the cell along the exocytotic pathway consequently leading to inhibition of the cell surface expression of important signaling receptors or membrane transports (155,156). Additionally, MNPs can disrupt endosomal membrane traffic that many cellular processes depend on, such as surface protein turnover and signaling attenuation as well as retrograde signaling from endosomal compartments. Furthermore, the buildup of MNPs within the lysosome or late endosome may hinder their ability to degrade substances and disrupt the essential cellular membrane turnover process known as macroautophagy (157). A disruption in autophagic clearance has the potential to initiate cascading processes that ultimately result in autophagic cell demise. Conversely, internalized MNPs can also activate autophagy. It is documented that metallic nanoparticles can influence autophagy thus raising the possibility that MNPs might have a similar effect (158).

These processes inherently induce cellular stress. Stressors affecting both the plasma membrane and endo-lysosomes prompt cellular stress responses. Research conducted on freshwater flea species *Daphnia* has revealed that exposure to PS-NPs impacts

growth and reproduction (159). Intriguingly, this exposure also led to an increase in AMP activated protein kinase (AMPK) levels, signaling a stress response occurred (160).

A broader aspect related to cellular stress response seems to involve the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which has been recognized as the molecular initiating event in recent analyses of adverse outcome pathways within the field (161). Cells generate ROS through two primary mechanisms: either through the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) during regular aerobic respiration or through oxidative bursts facilitated by nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases (NOXs) (162). Elevated ROS levels from impaired mitochondrial function may stem from the former, whereas the latter is often linked to bacterial invasion, as NOXs are triggered by bacterial byproducts and cytokines. Every cell possesses a conserved innate immune system, evolved to defend against pathogen intrusion or exposure to foreign substances (163). Nevertheless, elements of the innate immune system, like Toll-like receptors (TLRs), have the capability to react to a range of internally produced or secreted molecules referred to as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) as well (164,165). This can lead to sterile inflammation, characterized by inflammatory reactions in the absence of pathogenic infection (166). Within the organism, proinflammatory cytokines released during local inflammation can draw circulating immune cells, potentially exacerbating the inflammation and resulting in cell and tissue damage. Notably, NPs have been demonstrated to induce stress responses in the innate immune system of fish (167) (Figure 4).





MNPs can be taken up internally via endocytosis, breaching the plasma membrane and disrupting the signaling of cell surface receptors. They can also interfere with the endocytic pathway. This disturbance can trigger the activation of the immune system due to the emergence of stress, facilitated by both endogenous and secreted damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), thereby activating toll-like receptors (TLRs) that mediate innate immunity. Furthermore, stress induced by MNPs can prompt the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from NADP oxidases (NOXs) or from impaired mitochondrial function in the electron transport chain (ETC), potentially resulting in DNA damage and cellular apoptosis. Created with BioRender.com.

1.6 Reproductive toxicity

MNPs pose a significant risk to human health due to their frequent and continuous presence in the human living environment. MNPs research is still in its early stages with MNPs reproductive toxicity in humans being the least investigated, especially in females. Studies have been increasing in recent years using animal models primarily focusing on phenotypic changes. While these findings may not directly apply to humans, they offer valuable insights into understanding the potential effects and mechanisms involved in the reproductive toxicity of MNPs.

1.6.1 Male reproductive toxicity

When it comes to reproductive toxicity, most studies have focused on males. In numerous animal studies MNPs have been shown to interfere with the blood-testis barrier, potentially causing detrimental effects on male reproductive function. For instance, recent research suggests that even at a minimum human equivalent dose, estimated to be 0.016 mg/kg/d, MNPs could lead to abnormalities in semen quality (168). Different studies have showed that PS-MNPs can disrupt the blood-testis barrier, leading to male reproductive toxicity, such as spermatogenesis disorders. For example, it was shown that following oral administration of PS-MNPs in mice, they were absorbed in the blood 30 minutes after and penetrated the blood-testis barrier within four hours (169). Similarly, in a study by Jin et al, PS-MNPs were found in mouse testes 24 hours after exposure, and testosterone concentration and sperm vitality and quality decreased 28 days after exposure (170). Furthermore, research indicated that the combined exposure to MNPs and plasticizers could exacerbate reproductive harm in male mice,

leading to reduced sperm count, decreased sperm motility, and lower testosterone levels (171,172). Most of the studies mentioned earlier have found that MNPs negatively impact male reproductive health, though the exact mechanisms remain unclear. Recent research suggests that the primary mechanisms of toxicity are likely inflammatory changes and oxidative stress damage (173,174).

1.6.2 Female reproductive toxicity

Female reproductive disorders, such as infertility and polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) are global health issues, which may be closely related to environmental deterioration (175–177). The ovaries are vital in endocrine and reproductive functions. Ovaries are vulnerable to endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) which are natural or human-made substances that mimic, interfere, or even block endogenous hormones and they have been reported to exist in MNPs as well (178). Studies have shown that exposure to EDCs can lead to reproductive health issues, such as premature ovarian insufficiency, sex hormone imbalance, and infertility (179).

Studies have also shown that MNPs exposure can lead to reproductive toxicity in the female reproductive system. A study by Wang et al showed that a 60-day PS-MPs exposure reduced 17β -estradiol (E2) and testosterone (T) concentrations in the plasma of female *Oryzias melastigma* (180). Moreover, Zhang and colleagues showed that mice exposed to PS-MPs through oral administration for 30 days (40 mg/kg/day) underwent oxidative stress, DNA damage, and mitochondrial dysfunction in their oocytes. This led to a reduction in their fertilization rate, oocyte maturation, and disturbances in embryonic development (181). This further was investigated by Liu et al
who showed that continued exposure (35 days) to PS-MPs led to polar body extrusion rate and a decreased survival rate of superovulated oocytes in mice ovaries (182). Overall, these studies showed that a 30 to 35-day PS-MPs exposure could lead to ovarian inflammation and a decrease in oocyte quality in mice. Nevertheless, these investigations remain constrained, primarily centered on MPs, and have solely examined morphological alterations without delving into the underlying mechanisms. Recent studies have shown MNPs exist in the human placenta and that placental translocation depends on MNPs physicochemical properties, such as size, corona formation, and charge (183). For example, Dusza and colleagues conducted an in vitro study with BeWo b30 choriocarcinoma cells and showed that MNPs uptake was sizedependent. They also showed that MNPs passing through the placental barrier could contribute to the disturbance in fetal development (184). Another study by Wick et al used an ex vivo human placental perfusion model and showed that PS NPs with diameters up to 240 nm can pass through the placental barrier and are capable of transplacental transfer (185). Remarkably, Ragusa and colleagues observed 12 MP fragments (5–10 µm in size) in 4 human placentas for the very first time. The presence of MPs in human placentas may trigger adverse pregnancy outcomes and transplacental passage and could potentially have intergenerational transfer (186). Over time plastic particles degrade and release low levels of chemicals resulting in potentially prolonged chronic exposure (187,188). All plastics contain reactive oxygen species due to their polymerization and synthesis. Given their persistence, NPs can induce oxidative stress, resulting in cell death (188,189). A concern associated with exposure to NPs is that they can act as vectors for microorganisms and other pollutants

and have been shown be more reactive and infiltrate deeper in the tissues due to their higher surface area and smaller size respectively, and thus inducing more toxic effects compared to MPs (190,191). NPs' persistent nature and induction of oxidative stress, especially those consisting of polystyrene, can cause inflammation in vivo and vitro (189,192,193). A World Health Organization (WHO) report on NPs in drinking water indicated that levels in drinking water are low but stressed the urgent need for toxicological studies to assess potential human health effects (194). While the mechanisms by which environmental factors impact human health vary, dysregulated inflammation represents a common mechanism associated with multiple environmental factors (195,196). Such effects can result in, or exacerbate, pathological conditions leading to immune dysfunction, neurodegenerative diseases, and infertility. MPs have been linked to PCOS and endometriosis and recent studies have shown that MNPs have lowered sperm count and quality, decreased male fertility, and overall are harmful to male reproductive system (173,197–199). However, there is limited understanding of the effect of NPs on the female reproductive system, which this study aims to investigate.

1.7 Summary & objectives

The emergence of plastics as global pollutants has received considerable attention. MNPs are reported to accumulate in the environment and their presence in food. drinking water and the atmosphere indicates that human exposure is inevitable, yet few studies have examined the effects of NPs on human health. NPs can enter the human body and translocate through its physical barriers to reach secondary organs, including the reproductive organs and tissues. Some studies demonstrate the impact of NPs on cultured immune cells including induction of ROS and genotoxicity in lymphoblasts (Tk6 cells), and lymphocyte (Raji B-cells) cell lines (200). Immune cells including natural killer (NK), monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells are present throughout the female reproductive tract and are involved in intra-ovarian regulation and endometrial physiology (197,201). Cytokines, chemical messengers synthesized by cells including immune cells, like IL-6 and IL-12 are involved in folliculogenesis, cumulus-oocyte interactions, ovulation, corpus luteum formation and leuteolysis (201,202). A finely tuned balance of immune cells is important for reproduction. Dysregulation of immune cells and thus function adversely affects folliculogenesis, oocyte maturation, and ovulation, and is thought to be central to chronic inflammation characteristic of PCOS, endometrial angiogenesis, spiral artery remodeling and endometriosis (197,198,201). Therefore, this study aims to investigate the effects of chronic NPs exposure on female reproductive function in a mouse model. The study will examine the impact of NPs on ovarian function and structure by assessing circulating reproductive hormones, estrous cyclicity, and follicle development in female mice orally exposed to NPs.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Experimental design

To elucidate the reproductive effects of NPs exposure, sexually mature (40-60 days of age) female C57bl6j mice (n=30) were randomly assigned to one of the three exposure groups as follows: control (0 μ g of polystyrene beads/l in tap water tap water), low dose (100 μ g of polystyrene beads/l in tap water), and high dose (1000 μ g of polystyrene beads/l in tap water). During the exposure phase mice were exposed to fluorescently labeled polystyrene beads (500 nm in diameter) in their drinking water for 29 days at a concentration of 0 (vehicle control), 100 or 1,000 μ g/l (n=10/group) (203). Mice were weighed weekly and checked daily for signs of systemic toxicity including change in fur color and lacrimation. Vaginal smears were collected for the last 15 days to check for the estrous cycle stages, as per below. At the end of the exposure period (day 29) mice were euthanized by CO2 inhalation, and cervical dislocation. Blood was collected by cardiac puncture and reproductive tissues were collected for analysis (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Methodology summary

Following acclimatization, mice were randomly assigned to one of three exposure groups: control, low dose, and high dose PS-NPs. Exposure phase lasted 29 days and estrous cycle stage was assessed by vaginal lavage during the last 15 days. At the end of the exposure phase, mice were euthanized, and peripheral blood and reproductive tissues were collected.

2.2. Vaginal smears collection

To assess the effect of PS-NPs exposure on the estrous cycle, vaginal lavage was collected from mice each day at 8 AM beginning on study day 15 and continuing through to the end of the study for a total of 15 days. To collect the vaginal lavage 0.5 mL of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) was placed at the vaginal opening using a pipette and a pipette tip and was gently pushed into the vaginal canal and then

aspirated. Vaginal lavage was collected in Eppendorf tubes, placed on a clean glass histology slide, air dried and then placed under the microscope to identify the estrous cycle stages of the mice. Identification of estrous cycle stages was done by two investigators (MG & JMW). In case of disagreements, consensus was achieved by discussion between the two investigators (MG & JMW). The estrous cycle is the rodent reproductive cycle. Unlike the roughly 28-day reproductive cycle in women (e.g. the menstrual cycle), the mouse estrous cycle typically lasts 4-5 days and does not include menses (bleeding and shedding of the uterine lining). The estrous cycle consists of 4 stages: proestrus, estrus, metestrus, and diestrus. Proestrus lasts about 12 hours; indicated by round, nucleated epithelial cells and only few leukocytes in the vaginal lavage. During proestrus, around 80-90% of the epithelial cells are intact, active, and nucleated. Additionally, clumps of leukocytes are present (Figure 6A). Estrus is the next stage in the estrous cycle and is a period of sexual receptivity lasting about 12 hours (typically 12-8 AM in mice). Estrus can be identified by the dominance of large, cornified (degenerative cells that lose nuclei) epithelial cells in the vaginal lavage. Approximately 100% of epithelial cells are cornified during estrus (Figure 6B). Estrus is followed by metestrus and takes place shortly after ovulation lasting about 21 hours. Metestrus is indicated by large cornified epithelial cells mixed with polymorphonuclear leukocytes (about 1/3 the size of the epithelial cells) and a lot of cellular debris in the vaginal lavage. During metestrus, there is an approximate equal distribution of about 50% cornified cells and 50% leukocytes (Figure 6C). Diestrus is the final stage and is a period of inactivity lasting about 60-70 hours; indicated by mostly polymorphonuclear leukocytes and a few nucleated epithelial cells in the vaginal lavage. During diestrus,

approximately 80-95% of the cells present are leukocytes, with some epithelial cells also observed (204) (Figure 6D). To evaluate the impact of PS-NPs on the estrous cycle, both the overall length of the estrous cycle and the duration of each stage were tracked.



Figure 6. Mice vaginal cytology. The panels depict the estrous cycle stages; (A) proestrus, (B) estrus, (C) metestrus, and (D) diestrus.

2.3. Staining with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) & histomorphometric analysis

Ovaries were fixed in 10% formalin, dehydrated in graded concentrations of ethanol and xylene and embedded in paraffin wax. The entire ovary was serially sectioned at 5 µm thickness and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for microscopic examination and quantification of ovarian follicles. Five random sections per ovary were chosen for follicle counting and diameter measurement, based on the method by Smith et al (205).

Images of ovarian sections were captured at 10X, and the number of primordial, primary, secondary, and antral follicles was counted, and their diameter was measured. To prevent double counting the follicles, multiple images were taken per section in a row or column and then were stitched together using ImageJ (Figure 7). ZEISS ZEN Microscopy Software was used for imaging. Follicle types were identified using Myers et al approach which is based on morphological features including the number of granulosa cell layers surrounding the oocyte (206). Primordial follicles were identified as an oocyte surrounded by one layer of squamous (flattened) granulosa cells (Figure 8 A). Primary follicles were identified as an oocyte surrounded by one layer of cuboidal granulosa cells (Figure 8 B). Secondary follicles possessed more than one layer of cuboidal granulosa cells while antral follicles had more than one layer of cuboidal granulosa cells with a defined antrum (Figure 8 C & D respectively). To measure the diameter, three diameters per follicle were measured, and the average was calculated for a more accurate measurement.



Figure 7. Imaging and stitching process of the ovary sections. (A) Imaging of ovarian slides was performed row or column-wise and ovarian sections were stitched together for a full section visualization (B).



Figure 8. Morphological classification of ovarian follicles. (A) primordial follicle with one layer of squamous granulosa cells (red circle), (B) primary follicle with one layer of cuboidal granulosa cells (red circle), (C) secondary follicle with more than one layer of cuboidal granulosa cells and no visible antrum (red circle), and (D) antral follicle with a defined antral space.

2.4 ELISA Analyses of serum reproductive hormones

The levels of estradiol (E2) and progesterone (P4) were measured using commercially available ELISA kits (MyBioSource, San Diego, CA, USA), according to manufacturer's instructions.

2.5 Statistical Analysis

Data is presented as Mean \pm Standard Deviation (SD) unless otherwise stated. All analyses were performed using SPSS 29.0 Software (SPSS Inc.Chicago, USA). Repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to examine the effect of PS-NPs exposure on murine body mass. Welch's t-test (unequal variance assumed) was performed to examine the effect of PS-NPs on estradiol and progesterone levels in the control vs low dose exposure group and control vs high dose exposure group. Mixed model two-way ANOVA was performed to compare the estrous cycle stage lengths, and follicles count and diameters between the three exposure groups (control, low dose exposure, and high dose exposure). A P \leq 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. <u>Results</u>

3.1 Effect of chronic oral exposure to PS-NPs on murine body mass

Mice were orally exposed to PS-NPs for 29 days, and mass was documented on a weekly basis for each mouse. There was no significant change in body mass over the period of PS-NPs exposure was observed in either group exposed to PS-NPs as compared to the control, unexposed, mice (P>0.05) (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Murine body mass is unaffected by chronic PS-NPs exposure.

This figure shows mean and SEM of mice in the control group (no exposure to PS-NPs), low dose exposure group (100 ug/l PS-NP), and high dose exposure group (1000 ug/l PS-NPs) on weeks 0 (baseline body mass),1, 2, 3, and 4 of the experiment.

3.2 Effect of PS-NPs on murine estrous cycle

Estrous cycle stage was monitored using vaginal cytology for the final 15 days of the study period. Mice in the control group (N=10) spent an average of 2.30 ± 2.00 days in proestrus, 5.50 ± 1.84 days in estrus, 2.40 ± 1.43 days in metestrus, and 4.80 ± 2.20 days in diestrus during the 15 days of estrous cycle staging. Mice (N=10) in the low dose exposure group (100 µg/l PS-NPs) spent an average of 2.00 ± 1.56 days in proestrus, 6.20 ± 1.69 days in estrus, 2.80 ± 1.69 days in metestrus, and 3.90 ± 1.59 in diestrus. Mice (N=10) in the high dose exposure group (100 µg/l PS-NPs) spent an average of 2.00 ± 1.59 in diestrus.

1.9 \pm 2.02 days in proestrus, 5.80 \pm 1.93 days in estrus, 2.40 \pm 1.71 days in metestrus, and 4.90 \pm 2.23 days in diestrus respectively. No significant change in the length of estrous cycle stage was observed as a result of PS-NPs exposure (P>0.05) (Figure 10). The effect of PS-NPs exposure on the overall length of the estrous cycle was also measured. There was a significant increase in overall estrous cycle length in the high dose PS-NPs exposure group compared to the unexposed controls (5.53 \pm .25 days vs 4.70 \pm 0.23 days, P=0.02) (Figure 11).



Figure 10. Effect of PS-NPs on the length of proestrus, estrus, metestrus, and diestrus in mice. This figure shows the average amount of time (hours) that mice in each exposure group spent in each estrous cycle stage over one estrous cycle during the final 15 days of exposure. Data is presented as mean \pm SEM.



Figure 11. Effect of PS-NPs on overall estrous cycle length in mice. This figure shows the estrous cycle length in days of mice exposed to PS-NPs. Cycle stage was monitored by vaginal cytology for the last 15 days of the 29-day exposure period and is presented as mean ±SEM. *P<0.05

3.3 Effect of PS-NPs on serum estradiol and progesterone levels

Serum estradiol levels were measured by ELISA, and no significant change was detected in the PS-NPs exposed groups as compared to the controls (high exposure group vs control: mean difference=5.60 pg/ml, standard error of difference (SED)=2.95, P=0.09 and low exposure group vs control: mean difference=1.97 pg/ml, SED=2.92, P=0.52) (Figure 12). Serum progesterone levels were also quantified by ELISA, and there was a significant decrease in progesterone levels in the high dose exposure group

compared to control (mean difference=1.64 pg/ml, SED=0.64, P=0.03). However,

chronic exposure to PS-NPs had no significant effect on progesterone levels in the low dose exposure group (mean difference=1.10 pg/ml, SED=0.65, P=0.12) (Figure 13).



Figure 12. Effect of PS-NPs on serum estradiol level in female mice. This figure shows the change in the estradiol level as a result of PS-NPs exposure for 29 days.





3.4 Effect of chronic oral exposure to PS-NPs on ovarian follicle count and diameter

The effect of PS-NPs on ovarian follicle count and diameter was investigated. On average there were 1080.20±58.27 primordial follicles, 411.40±21.02 primary, 298.40±15.43 secondary, and 216.90±16.02 antral follicles in the control group. The low-exposure PS-NPs group had an average of 1023.00±58.27 primordial, 408.10±21.02 primary, 284.50±15.44 secondary, and 187.50±16.02 antral follicles. Finally, the high-exposure PS-NPs group had an average of 1018.60±58.27 primordial,

383.70±21.02 primary, 271.00±15.44 secondary, and 177.10±16.02 antral follicles. When compared with controls, there was no statistically significant difference in the number of primordial follicles, primary, secondary, and antral follicles in the PS-NPstreated ovaries (Figure 14).

Next, the diameter of follicles was measured in the three groups. Antral follicle diameter was significantly smaller in the PS-NPs exposure groups compared to the control group mean diameter (Figure 15). When compared to the controls, PS-NPs had a more pronounced effect on reducing antral follicle diameter in the high dose exposure group (p=0.001) compared to the low dose exposure group (p=0.03).







Figure 14. Effect of PS-NPs on Follicle Count. These figures show the primordial, primary, secondary, and antral follicles count of different PS-NPs exposure groups. Data is presented as mean and SEM.







Figure 15. Effect of PS-NPs on follicles size These figures show the primordial,

primary, secondary, and antral follicle size of different PS-NPs exposure groups. Data is presented as mean and SEM. *P<0.05, **P<0.001

4. Discussion

4.1 Principal findings and implications

Industrial development and anthropogenic activities have led to a dramatic expansion of global production chains for plastic inputs for decades (207,208). Currently, 460 million tons of plastic materials are produced each year, a mass projected to reach 33 billion tons in the next 30 years (209,210). Due to accelerated production and limited reuse, transformation or recycling initiatives, the world's ability to deal with excess plastic products has been surpassed (211,212). These problems are even more evident in developing countries, where plastic waste collection and treatment systems are often inefficient or unavailable (207). As a result, the most common destination for industrial and domestic plastic waste is environmental disposal, determining extensive land and water pollution (213,214). It is undeniable that plastic materials have a notorious relevance and applicability in the food, pharmaceutical, agrochemical, transport, construction, and electronic industries (215,216). However, the irrational disposal of plastic products with very low shelf life (e.g., bags, packaging and bottles) often ignores the negative environmental impact of these pollutants, which can persist for decades or hundreds of years in nature causing ecological imbalances (207,217). Plastics break down into MNPs which can enter the human body and systems through digestion. inhalation, and dermal contact and cause inflammation and immune dysfunction. NPs can pose a serious risk to human health due to their smaller size and larger relative surface area which allows for an enhanced ability to adsorb toxic chemicals and pathogens and a higher penetration rate into tissues. It has been shown that NPs can accumulate in the human heart, liver, spleen, lung, kidney, brain, stomach, large and

small intestine (218) and can lead to neurotoxicity, developmental toxicity, oxidative stress, DNA damage, and compromise the immune and circulatory systems (16,219,220). However, there is little known about the accumulation and distribution of NPs in the female reproductive system. Therefore, this study experimentally investigated the effect of chronic oral exposure to NPs on the female reproductive system using a mouse model.

In this study we showed that PS-NPs exposure decreased antral follicle diameter, decreased serum progesterone levels, and increased estrous cycle length in female mice. Ovarian reserve, indicated by antral follicle count, is the capacity of the ovary to provide oocytes (egg cells) and is a key indicator for assessing female fertility. Poor ovarian reserve characterized by a reduction in the ovarian follicle pool is an important cause of infertility (221,222). It has been shown that poor ovarian reserve is associated with lower pregnancy rate and higher rates of pregnancy loss (223).

A follicle is the basic structural unit of the ovary which through the process of folliculogenesis undergoes different morphological and functional changes from a primordial to ovulatory follicle, ultimately releasing an oocyte (egg) through ovulation. Folliculogenesis can be divided into gonadotropin-independent stages which consist of preantral follicles (primordial, primary, and secondary follicles) and gonadotropindependent stages which include antral follicles (224). Preantral stages are characterized by growth and proliferation of granulosa cells. Luteinizing hormone (LH) stimulates internal cells to produce androgens which diffuse into the granulosa cell compartment via the basal lamina. Under the influence of follicle stimulating hormone

(FSH) granulosa cells turn androgens to estrogens, mainly estradiol, which causes granulosa cells to proliferate. During the antral phase, production of estradiol by granulosa cells increases under the combined effect of FSH and estradiol. This surge in estradiol is a crucial signal for the neuroendocrine system indicating that the antral follicle is ready for ovulation. The process of ovulation happens around day 14 in a 28day human reproductive cycle. An increase in estradiol increases gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) secretion onto the pituitary gland, leading to a surge of LH. The LH surge triggers a series of events in the ovary, including an increase in intrafollicular proteolytic enzymes. These enzymes weaken the follicular wall, facilitating the release of the mature follicle (ovulation). Additionally, the LH surge induces luteinization of thecal and granulosa cells, leading to the formation of the corpus luteum. This structure is pivotal in synthesizing progesterone, and is crucial for maintaining pregnancy if fertilization occurs. Following ovulation, the ovulated follicle is guided into the fallopian tubes by the fimbriae. Meanwhile, the oocyte within the follicle remains arrested in metaphase II of meiosis II until fertilization takes place (225).

In this study, we found chronic oral exposure to PS-NPs significantly decreased antral follicle diameter. A decrease in antral follicle diameter can disrupt folliculogenesis and increases follicle atresia. This can lead to anovulation (absence of ovulation) as antral follicles are the only ovarian functional unit capable of releasing an oocyte through ovulation. Anovulation can cause irregular menstrual cycles; without regular release of an oocyte, the hormonal signals that regulate the menstrual cycle can become disrupted. This can result in cycles that are shorter or longer than usual, or cycles without ovulation altogether (226). Interestingly, in addition to the decrease in antral

follicle diameter, a significant increase in estrous cycle length was observed for mice chronically orally exposed to high dose PS-NPs which further confirms the lack or decreased in ovulation. In humans, chronic anovulation may have implications for longterm health, as ovulatory cycles are important for maintaining hormonal balance and overall reproductive health. Women with persistent anovulation may be at increased risk for conditions such as polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), which can have various metabolic and reproductive implications (227). Moreover, ovulation is essential for fertility, as it is the process by which an oocyte is released and can be fertilized by sperm. Anovulation can make it difficult for women to conceive, as there is no oocyte available for fertilization (228). Additionally, a decrease in antral follicle diameter and follicle atresia can ultimately lead to a lower AFC which is a marker of ovarian reserve. AFC is proportionally related to the size of the ovarian reserve and has been reported to be lower in infertile women (229–231). Therefore, it is possible that PS-NPs exposure could lead to anovulation contributing to infertility, menstrual irregularities, and PCOS. Arrest in antral follicle development has been linked to an abnormal endocrine environment and insulin resistance as well. For example, in PCOS, an increase in LH levels relative to FSH can disrupt normal ovarian function and contribute to the arrest of antral follicle growth (232). Normally, FSH stimulates the growth and development of ovarian follicles, while LH is responsible for triggering ovulation. However, in PCOS, the elevated LH levels can disrupt this balance. High levels of LH can lead to premature luteinization of ovarian follicles, causing them to stop growing at the antral stage (232). There is very limited literature on the effect of NPs on LH or FSH levels in females and variability exists among the few studies. For example, a study by Wei and colleagues

reported LH surge in mice exposed to 0.1 mg/d of S-MPs for 30 days (233). In contrast, Liu et al reported a reduction in antral follicle count but no change in FSH or LH levels after chronic exposure for 35 days to 790 nm PS-NPs (182). Insulin resistance is another potential cause of antral follicle arrest that is also observed in PCOS and could be linked to NPs exposure as well. Insulin resistance in PCOS leads to elevated insulin levels in the blood (hyperinsulinemia) which can directly impact ovarian function by stimulating androgen production in the ovaries (234). Insulin stimulates thecal cells in the ovarian follicles to produce excess androgens, such as testosterone. Androgens can disrupt the normal development and maturation of ovarian follicles. For instance, the excess androgens produced as a result of insulin resistance can disrupt the normal selection and growth of dominant follicles (235). Instead of a single dominant follicle maturing and ovulating, multiple small follicles may continue to grow but fail to reach maturity. This can lead to the accumulation of small antral follicles in the ovaries, contributing to the characteristic appearance of "polycystic" ovaries seen on ultrasound. Elevated androgen levels can also lead to systemic effects, such as increased LH secretion from the pituitary gland (234). LH further stimulates and rogen production by the ovaries, exacerbating the hyperandrogenic state and contributing to the arrest of antral follicle growth which we observed with NPs exposure as well.

Recent literature has demonstrated the potential of NPs to induce insulin resistance. For example, a study conducted by Wang and colleagues where mice were orally exposed to PS-NPs over an 8-week period, resulting in a notable elevation in blood glucose levels, glucose intolerance, and oxidative stress, ultimately culminating in insulin resistance (236). Furthermore, another recent study revealed that mice exposed to

airborne nanoparticles exhibited a systemic inflammatory phenotype and manifested complete insulin resistance, characterized by weight loss and elevated blood glucose levels (237).

Overall, our results show a reduction in antral follicle size and arrest of antral follicle growth. This phenomenon can potentially be attributed to NPs triggering a surge in LH levels and inducing insulin resistance and metabolic dysregulation. A decrease in follicle size and volume can lead to follicle atresia and a diminished antral follicle count over time or with a higher NPs exposure dose, resulting in a lower ovarian reserve and impaired fertility. Our study is the first to quantify follicle size and currently, there is no research addressing the impact of NPs on ovarian follicles. However, some literature has explored the effects of MPs on follicle count. For example, Liu et al showed a lower antral follicle count after exposing mice to 30 mg/kg body mass PS-MPs for 35 days (182). Wei et al reported a lower total follicle count in the 0.1 mg/d PS group compared to the control group (233). Additionally, a study by Haddadi et al showed that PS-MPs exposure for 0.1 mg/day (5 µm diameter) for 24–26 days by oral gavage perturbed folliculogenesis, disrupted follicles maturation, differentiation, and increased number of atretic and cyst follicles in Wistar rats (238).

Furthermore, in the present study estrous cycle length was measured, and it was found to be significantly longer in the high dose PS-NPs exposure group compared to control. The estrous cycle is the reproductive cycle in rodents and is 4-5 days long. The estrous cycle has 4 stages: proestrus, estrus, metestrus, and diestrus. During metestrus and diestrus, estradiol levels are low but gradually rise. In the late afternoon of proestrus, heightened estradiol levels prompt a surge in GnRH release from the hypothalamus.

This surge, in turn, triggers the LH and FSH surge during proestrus, typically occurring at the onset of the active (dark) period. Ovulation typically occurs 12 to 14 hours later during estrus, which spans approximately 15 hours (204). On the other hand, the ~28d human menstrual cycle has three phases of menstrual, proliferative (follicular), and secretory (luteal) and ovulation occurs around day 14 of the cycle.

Ovulation is essential for fertility because it releases an oocyte from the ovary, which is necessary for conception. If ovulation does not occur, the menstrual/reproductive cycle may become irregular which can result in infertility (239). Anovulation often occurs due to hormonal imbalances, such as elevated levels of androgens (male hormones) or disruptions in the balance of estrogen and progesterone. These imbalances can disrupt development and release of oocytes from the ovaries, leading to irregular menstrual cycles and longer cycles without ovulation (239).

This aligns with our previous finding as reduction in antral follicle size can lead to anovulation which in turn can result in a longer estrous cycle further confirming that PS-NPs could lead to irregular ovulation and contribute to infertility.

There is currently no literature on the effect of NPs on estrous cyclicity but there are a few MPs studies yielding varied results. For example, Wei et al showed no significant effect from 5-5.9 μ m PS-MPs chronic exposure on the length of the estrous cycle of mice (233). On the other hand, Haddadi et al showed a significant decrease in metestrus stage of exposed rats to 5 μ m PS-MPs compared to control (238). These findings suggest a potential size-related effect of MNPs, with smaller particles exhibiting toxicity towards estrous cyclicity.

Moreover, we showed that PS-NPs exposure caused a significant decrease in P4 levels. A drop in P4 has been linked to anovulation (240). In cases where a follicle fails to mature and release an oocyte, progesterone remains unreleased, causing the uterine lining to continuously thicken in response to estrogen. Over time, this thickening becomes unstable and eventually collapses, resulting in bleeding. This bleeding can be unpredictable, often characterized by heavy flow and prolonged duration. Without ovulation, the corpus luteum does not form, leading to low progesterone levels during the luteal phase (240). Anovulation can result from hormonal imbalances, or hypothalamic dysfunction, and can contribute to infertility and irregular periods and reproductive cycles. In the case of ovulation, P4 is primarily produced by the corpus luteum which is a structure formed in the ovary after ovulation. During the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle, progesterone levels rise to prepare the uterine lining for implantation of a fertilized egg. If there is insufficient progesterone production during this phase (known as a luteal phase defect), the endometrial lining may not develop adequately, making it difficult for a fertilized oocyte to implant and establish a pregnancy (241).

Overall, a decrease in P4 levels can be suggestive of anovulation which our results have suggested through longer estrous cycle length and a decrease in antral follicle size in the PS-NPs exposure groups.

Decrease in P4 has also been shown in previous studies; It has been suggested that MNPs' additives and pollutants act as endocrine disruptors causing hormonal changes (31). For example, Bisphenol A (BPA) which is used primarily in the production of polycarbonate plastics and resins has been shown to decrease progesterone and

estradiol levels in humans (242). Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) are other plastics additives and have been shown to lower progesterone levels and cause follicle atresia (243). Reduction in progesterone levels can contribute to irregular menstruation, difficulty conceiving, and pregnancy loss (244).

Additionally, P4 has been shown to be a potent suppressor of several inflammatory pathways. For example, it has been shown that the withdrawal of P4 increases expressions of *IL8* and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (*MCP1*) transcripts in human endometrial explants, suggesting that P4 suppresses these cytokines in the uterine tissues (245). Therefore, P4 stimulates anti-inflammatory responses while suppressing pro-inflammatory responses and reduction of P4 by PS-NPs suggest that NPs can contribute to inflammation and immune dysfunction which needs to be investigated in future studies.

Lastly, we measured mice body mass at baseline and every week, however, no significant change was detected in PS-NPs exposure groups compared to the control. The effect of MNPs on body mass in the literature is variable. For example, Shen et al showed that treatment with 1 mg/L of PS-MPs had no effect on mice body mass (246) but Haddadi et al showed a significant decrease in body mass gain in rats exposed to PS-MPs (238). These suggest that the effect of NPs on body mass is size dependent. Further studies are needed to investigate the effect of long-term treatment of PS-NPs in mice.

4.2 Strengths, limitations & future directions

This study is the first to examine the effect of NPs on several female reproductive characteristics in mammals. It is also the first plastic toxicity study to have measured follicle size and overall estrous cycle length. In this study we showed that NPs exposure affected the estrous cycle length, progesterone levels and antral follicle size, suggesting the potential translocation of these particles into the ovaries. While current literature lacks definitive insights into the precise mechanisms governing NP transport and translocation within biological systems, emerging research provides intriguing insights. Notably, a recent ex vivo study demonstrated the transport of PS-NPs across the intestine of the European sea bass (fish species) (247). Additionally, aquatic studies have documented the translocation of microplastics from the gastrointestinal tract to systemic circulation and other tissues (248–250). Furthermore, Jin and colleagues have revealed the ability of PS-MPs to traverse the testis-blood barrier (170,251) and Hadadi et al and An et al have reported accumulation of PS-MPs in luteal cells of the corpus luteum and in the thecal cells of the follicles as well (238,252). Hence, it is plausible that the translocation of NPs into ovarian tissues may occur through crossing the intestinal barrier, entering the circulatory system, and even crossing the blood-follicular barrier. However, future studies should prioritize delving into the fundamental mechanisms governing the translocation of NPs and their subsequent effects on the female reproductive system.

This study is not without its limitations. One of the limitations of our study is that mice were euthanized at different estrous cycle stages which could potentially serve as a

confounding variable in our analysis. Therefore, in future studies euthanasia should take place during the same estrous cycle stage. Additionally, we did not have an adequate sample size for subgroup analysis including controlling for the difference in estrous cycle stages prior to euthanasia. Therefore, a larger sample size is required for future studies to allow for post hoc analysis. Finally, it is noteworthy that our study utilized manufactured PS-NPs, which may not fully replicate the characteristics of NPs in the environment with regard to their size, shape, and composition. This limitation is inherent in toxicological investigations involving synthetic particles.

5. Conclusion

Overall, this study suggests that PS-NPs exposure can induce reproductive toxicity by disrupting folliculogenesis through decreasing antral follicle diameter (arrest in antral follicle growth), increasing the estrous cycle length (irregular cycles), and decreasing progesterone levels. Disruptions in folliculogenesis and estrous cycle length serve as significant indicators of anovulation, a condition associated with infertility and PCOS. Furthermore, the reduction in progesterone levels not only signals the possibility of anovulation but also acts as an indicator of heightened inflammation. This observation suggests a potential link between the induction of inflammation and immune responses in the reproductive system by NPs. This should be further investigated in future studies. It is imperative to acknowledge that this study constitutes a repeated dose toxicity assessment, specifically designed to discern potential adverse effects of NPs on the female reproductive system. It is conceivable that certain effects may necessitate a prolonged duration to fully manifest or become apparent. Therefore, our study provides

a basis for further exploring the molecular mechanism of NPs exposure induced reproductive dysfunction in female mammals.

References

- 1. MacLeod M, Arp HPH, Tekman MB, Jahnke A. The global threat from plastic pollution. Science. 2021 Jul 2;373(6550):61–5.
- Gregory MR. Environmental implications of plastic debris in marine settings entanglement, ingestion, smothering, hangers-on, hitch-hiking and alien invasions. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci. 2009 Jul 27;364(1526):2013–25.
- 3. Shams M, Alam I, Mahbub MS. Plastic pollution during COVID-19: Plastic waste directives and its long-term impact on the environment. Environ Adv. 2021 Oct;5:100119.
- 4. Luo Y, Naidu R, Zhang X, Fang C. Microplastics and nanoplastics released from a PPE mask under a simulated bushfire condition. J Hazard Mater. 2022 Oct;439:129621.
- 5. Li M, Hou Z, Meng R, Hao S, Wang B. Unraveling the potential human health risks from used disposable face mask-derived micro/nanoplastics during the COVID-19 pandemic scenario: A critical review. Environ Int. 2022 Dec;170:107644.
- 6. Geyer R. Production, use, and fate of synthetic polymers. In: Plastic Waste and Recycling [Internet]. Elsevier; 2020 [cited 2024 Mar 19]. p. 13–32. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780128178805000025
- 7. Hahladakis JN, lacovidou E. Closing the loop on plastic packaging materials: What is quality and how does it affect their circularity? Sci Total Environ. 2018 Jul;630:1394–400.
- 8. Geyer R, Jambeck JR, Law KL. Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. Sci Adv. 2017 Jul 7;3(7):e1700782.
- 9. Tian L, Jinjin C, Ji R, Ma Y, Yu X. Microplastics in agricultural soils: sources, effects, and their fate. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health. 2022 Feb;25:100311.
- Yang L, Zhang Y, Kang S, Wang Z, Wu C. Microplastics in soil: A review on methods, occurrence, sources, and potential risk. Sci Total Environ. 2021 Aug;780:146546.
- 11. Huang Y, Liu Q, Jia W, Yan C, Wang J. Agricultural plastic mulching as a source of microplastics in the terrestrial environment. Environ Pollut. 2020 May;260:114096.
- Fakour H, Lo SL, Yoashi NT, Massao AM, Lema NN, Mkhontfo FB, et al. Quantification and Analysis of Microplastics in Farmland Soils: Characterization, Sources, and Pathways. Agriculture. 2021 Apr 8;11(4):330.

- Wojnowska-Baryła I, Bernat K, Zaborowska M. Plastic Waste Degradation in Landfill Conditions: The Problem with Microplastics, and Their Direct and Indirect Environmental Effects. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 Oct 14;19(20):13223.
- Acharya S, Rumi SS, Hu Y, Abidi N. Microfibers from synthetic textiles as a major source of microplastics in the environment: A review. Text Res J. 2021 Sep;91(17– 18):2136–56.
- Gewert B, Plassmann MM, MacLeod M. Pathways for degradation of plastic polymers floating in the marine environment. Environ Sci Process Impacts. 2015;17(9):1513–21.
- 16. Yong C, Valiyaveettil S, Tang B. Toxicity of Microplastics and Nanoplastics in Mammalian Systems. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Feb 26;17(5):1509.
- 17. Bergmann M, Gutow L, Klages M, editors. Marine Anthropogenic Litter [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2015 [cited 2024 Mar 28]. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-16510-3
- Auta HS, Emenike CU, Fauziah SH. Distribution and importance of microplastics in the marine environment: A review of the sources, fate, effects, and potential solutions. Environ Int. 2017 May;102:165–76.
- 19. Jiang JQ. Occurrence of microplastics and its pollution in the environment: A review. Sustain Prod Consum. 2018 Jan;13:16–23.
- 20. Ashton K, Holmes L, Turner A. Association of metals with plastic production pellets in the marine environment. Mar Pollut Bull. 2010 Nov;60(11):2050–5.
- 21. Cole M, Lindeque P, Halsband C, Galloway TS. Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: A review. Mar Pollut Bull. 2011 Dec;62(12):2588–97.
- 22. González-Pleiter M, Tamayo-Belda M, Pulido-Reyes G, Amariei G, Leganés F, Rosal R, et al. Secondary nanoplastics released from a biodegradable microplastic severely impact freshwater environments. Environ Sci Nano. 2019;6(5):1382–92.
- 23. Lambert S, Wagner M. Characterisation of nanoplastics during the degradation of polystyrene. Chemosphere. 2016 Feb;145:265–8.
- 24. Banerjee A, Shelver WL. Micro- and Nanoplastic-Mediated Pathophysiological Changes in Rodents, Rabbits, and Chickens: A Review. J Food Prot. 2021 Sep;84(9):1480–95.
- 25. Rubio L, Marcos R, Hernández A. Potential adverse health effects of ingested micro- and nanoplastics on humans. Lessons learned from *in vivo* and *in vitro* mammalian models. J Toxicol Environ Health Part B. 2020 Feb 17;23(2):51–68.

- Banaee M, Soltanian S, Sureda A, Gholamhosseini A, Haghi BN, Akhlaghi M, et al. Evaluation of single and combined effects of cadmium and micro-plastic particles on biochemical and immunological parameters of common carp (Cyprinus carpio). Chemosphere. 2019 Dec;236:124335.
- 27. Nabi G, Ahmad S, Ullah S, Zada S, Sarfraz M, Guo X, et al. The adverse health effects of increasing microplastic pollution on aquatic mammals. J King Saud Univ Sci. 2022 Jun;34(4):102006.
- 28. Campanale, Massarelli, Savino, Locaputo, Uricchio. A Detailed Review Study on Potential Effects of Microplastics and Additives of Concern on Human Health. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Feb 13;17(4):1212.
- Hahladakis JN, Velis CA, Weber R, Iacovidou E, Purnell P. An overview of chemical additives present in plastics: Migration, release, fate and environmental impact during their use, disposal and recycling. J Hazard Mater. 2018 Feb;344:179–99.
- 30. Tang Y, Zhou W, Sun S, Du X, Han Y, Shi W, et al. Immunotoxicity and neurotoxicity of bisphenol A and microplastics alone or in combination to a bivalve species, Tegillarca granosa. Environ Pollut. 2020 Oct;265:115115.
- 31. Ullah S, Ahmad S, Guo X, Ullah S, Ullah S, Nabi G, et al. A review of the endocrine disrupting effects of micro and nano plastic and their associated chemicals in mammals. Front Endocrinol. 2023 Jan 16;13:1084236.
- 32. Carpenter DO. Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs): Routes of Exposure and Effects on Human Health. Rev Environ Health. 2006 Jan;21(1):1–24.
- 33. White SS, Birnbaum LS. An Overview of the Effects of Dioxins and Dioxin-Like Compounds on Vertebrates, as Documented in Human and Ecological Epidemiology. J Environ Sci Health Part C. 2009 Nov 30;27(4):197–211.
- 34. Nava V, Leoni B. A critical review of interactions between microplastics, microalgae and aquatic ecosystem function. Water Res. 2021 Jan;188:116476.
- 35. Yamashita R, Tanaka K, Yeo BG, Takada H, Van Franeker JA, Dalton M, et al. Hazardous Chemicals in Plastics in Marine Environments: International Pellet Watch. In: Takada H, Karapanagioti HK, editors. Hazardous Chemicals Associated with Plastics in the Marine Environment [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018 [cited 2024 Apr 2]. p. 163–83. (The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry; vol. 78). Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/698_2018_299
- Van Cauwenberghe L, Devriese L, Galgani F, Robbens J, Janssen CR. Microplastics in sediments: A review of techniques, occurrence and effects. Mar Environ Res. 2015 Oct;111:5–17.
- Wang Z, Su B, Xu X, Di D, Huang H, Mei K, et al. Preferential accumulation of small (<300 μm) microplastics in the sediments of a coastal plain river network in eastern China. Water Res. 2018 Nov;144:393–401.
- 38. Long M, Moriceau B, Gallinari M, Lambert C, Huvet A, Raffray J, et al. Interactions between microplastics and phytoplankton aggregates: Impact on their respective fates. Mar Chem. 2015 Oct;175:39–46.
- Prata JC, Da Costa JP, Lopes I, Duarte AC, Rocha-Santos T. Effects of microplastics on microalgae populations: A critical review. Sci Total Environ. 2019 May;665:400–5.
- 40. Wang S, Liu M, Wang J, Huang J, Wang J. Polystyrene nanoplastics cause growth inhibition, morphological damage and physiological disturbance in the marine microalga Platymonas helgolandica. Mar Pollut Bull. 2020 Sep;158:111403.
- Cole M, Lindeque P, Fileman E, Halsband C, Goodhead R, Moger J, et al. Microplastic Ingestion by Zooplankton. Environ Sci Technol. 2013 Jun 18;47(12):6646–55.
- 42. Mamun AA, Prasetya TAE, Dewi IR, Ahmad M. Microplastics in human food chains: Food becoming a threat to health safety. Sci Total Environ. 2023 Feb;858:159834.
- 43. Zhang S, Wang J, Liu X, Qu F, Wang X, Wang X, et al. Microplastics in the environment: A review of analytical methods, distribution, and biological effects. TrAC Trends Anal Chem. 2019 Feb;111:62–72.
- 44. Zhang Z, Gao SH, Luo G, Kang Y, Zhang L, Pan Y, et al. The contamination of microplastics in China's aquatic environment: Occurrence, detection and implications for ecological risk. Environ Pollut. 2022 Mar;296:118737.
- 45. Li B, Liang W, Liu QX, Fu S, Ma C, Chen Q, et al. Fish Ingest Microplastics Unintentionally. Environ Sci Technol. 2021 Aug 3;55(15):10471–9.
- Azevedo-Santos VM, Gonçalves GRL, Manoel PS, Andrade MC, Lima FP, Pelicice FM. Plastic ingestion by fish: A global assessment. Environ Pollut. 2019 Dec;255:112994.
- Collard F, Gasperi J, Gabrielsen GW, Tassin B. Plastic Particle Ingestion by Wild Freshwater Fish: A Critical Review. Environ Sci Technol. 2019 Nov 19;53(22):12974–88.
- 48. Ding J, Zhang S, Razanajatovo RM, Zou H, Zhu W. Accumulation, tissue distribution, and biochemical effects of polystyrene microplastics in the freshwater fish red tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Environ Pollut. 2018 Jul;238:1–9.

- 49. Li Z, Chang X, Hu M, Fang JKH, Sokolova IM, Huang W, et al. Is microplastic an oxidative stressor? Evidence from a meta-analysis on bivalves. J Hazard Mater. 2022 Feb;423:127211.
- 50. Li J, Yang D, Li L, Jabeen K, Shi H. Microplastics in commercial bivalves from China. Environ Pollut. 2015 Dec;207:190–5.
- 51. Yin J, Li JY, Craig NJ, Su L. Microplastic pollution in wild populations of decapod crustaceans: A review. Chemosphere. 2022 Mar;291:132985.
- 52. Ribeiro F, O'Brien JW, Galloway T, Thomas KV. Accumulation and fate of nanoand micro-plastics and associated contaminants in organisms. TrAC Trends Anal Chem. 2019 Feb;111:139–47.
- 53. Duan Z, Duan X, Zhao S, Wang X, Wang J, Liu Y, et al. Barrier function of zebrafish embryonic chorions against microplastics and nanoplastics and its impact on embryo development. J Hazard Mater. 2020 Aug;395:122621.
- 54. Chen Q, Gundlach M, Yang S, Jiang J, Velki M, Yin D, et al. Quantitative investigation of the mechanisms of microplastics and nanoplastics toward zebrafish larvae locomotor activity. Sci Total Environ. 2017 Apr;584–585:1022–31.
- 55. Miao L, Hou J, You G, Liu Z, Liu S, Li T, et al. Acute effects of nanoplastics and microplastics on periphytic biofilms depending on particle size, concentration and surface modification. Environ Pollut. 2019 Dec;255:113300.
- Shen M, Zhang Y, Zhu Y, Song B, Zeng G, Hu D, et al. Recent advances in toxicological research of nanoplastics in the environment: A review. Environ Pollut. 2019 Sep;252:511–21.
- 57. Zaki MRM, Aris AZ. An overview of the effects of nanoplastics on marine organisms. Sci Total Environ. 2022 Jul;831:154757.
- 58. Fan X, Wei X, Hu H, Zhang B, Yang D, Du H, et al. Effects of oral administration of polystyrene nanoplastics on plasma glucose metabolism in mice. Chemosphere. 2022 Feb;288:132607.
- 59. Lin W, Jiang R, Hu S, Xiao X, Wu J, Wei S, et al. Investigating the toxicities of different functionalized polystyrene nanoplastics on Daphnia magna. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2019 Sep;180:509–16.
- 60. Qiu Y, Luo L, Yang Y, Kong Y, Li Y, Wang D. Potential toxicity of nanopolystyrene on lifespan and aging process of nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Sci Total Environ. 2020 Feb;705:135918.
- 61. Duan J, Li Y, Gao J, Cao R, Shang E, Zhang W. ROS-mediated photoaging pathways of nano- and micro-plastic particles under UV irradiation. Water Res. 2022 Jun;216:118320.

- 62. Woo JH, Seo HJ, Lee JY, Lee I, Jeon K, Kim B, et al. Polypropylene nanoplastic exposure leads to lung inflammation through p38-mediated NF-κB pathway due to mitochondrial damage. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2023 Jan 10;20(1):2.
- 63. Tallec K, Paul-Pont I, Boulais M, Le Goïc N, González-Fernández C, Le Grand F, et al. Nanopolystyrene beads affect motility and reproductive success of oyster spermatozoa (*Crassostrea gigas*). Nanotoxicology. 2020 Sep 13;14(8):1039–57.
- 64. Tallec K, Huvet A, Di Poi C, González-Fernández C, Lambert C, Petton B, et al. Nanoplastics impaired oyster free living stages, gametes and embryos. Environ Pollut. 2018 Nov;242:1226–35.
- Sökmen TÖ, Sulukan E, Türkoğlu M, Baran A, Özkaraca M, Ceyhun SB. Polystyrene nanoplastics (20 nm) are able to bioaccumulate and cause oxidative DNA damages in the brain tissue of zebrafish embryo (Danio rerio). NeuroToxicology. 2020 Mar;77:51–9.
- 66. Yang S, Li M, Kong RYC, Li L, Li R, Chen J, et al. Reproductive toxicity of microand nanoplastics. Environ Int. 2023 Jul;177:108002.
- Chatterjee A, Maity S, Banerjee S, Dutta S, Adhikari M, Guchhait R, et al. Toxicological impacts of nanopolystyrene on zebrafish oocyte with insight into the mechanism of action: An expression-based analysis. Sci Total Environ. 2022 Jul;830:154796.
- Teng M, Zhao X, Zhao L, Shi D, Li Y, Sun J, et al. Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) Reproduction Is Affected by Life-Cycle Exposure to Differently Charged Polystyrene Nanoplastics with Sex-Specific Responses. ACS EST Water. 2022 Dec 9;2(12):2558–66.
- 69. Zhou Y, Jin Q, Xu H, Wang Y, Li M. Chronic nanoplastic exposure induced oxidative and immune stress in medaka gonad. Sci Total Environ. 2023 Apr;869:161838.
- 70. Ferrante MC, Monnolo A, Del Piano F, Mattace Raso G, Meli R. The Pressing Issue of Micro- and Nanoplastic Contamination: Profiling the Reproductive Alterations Mediated by Oxidative Stress. Antioxidants. 2022 Jan 19;11(2):193.
- 71. Li D, Ji J, Yuan Y, Wang D. Toxicity comparison of nanopolystyrene with three metal oxide nanoparticles in nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Chemosphere. 2020 Apr;245:125625.
- 72. Li D, Deng Y, Wang S, Du H, Xiao G, Wang D. Assessment of nanopolystyrene toxicity under fungal infection condition in Caenorhabditis elegans. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2020 Jul;197:110625.
- 73. Ain Bhutto SU, You X. Spatial distribution of microplastics in Chinese freshwater ecosystem and impacts on food webs. Environ Pollut. 2022 Jan;293:118494.

- De Souza Machado AA, Kloas W, Zarfl C, Hempel S, Rillig MC. Microplastics as an emerging threat to terrestrial ecosystems. Glob Change Biol. 2018 Apr;24(4):1405– 16.
- 75. Nizzetto L, Futter M, Langaas S. Are Agricultural Soils Dumps for Microplastics of Urban Origin? Environ Sci Technol. 2016 Oct 18;50(20):10777–9.
- Watts AJR, Urbina MA, Goodhead R, Moger J, Lewis C, Galloway TS. Effect of Microplastic on the Gills of the Shore Crab *Carcinus maenas*. Environ Sci Technol. 2016 May 17;50(10):5364–9.
- 77. Li Q, Sun C, Wang Y, Cai H, Li L, Li J, et al. Fusion of microplastics into the mussel byssus. Environ Pollut. 2019 Sep;252:420–6.
- 78. Ma C, Chen Q, Li J, Li B, Liang W, Su L, et al. Distribution and translocation of micro- and nanoplastics in fish. Crit Rev Toxicol. 2021 Oct 21;51(9):740–53.
- 79. Rillig MC, Ziersch L, Hempel S. Microplastic transport in soil by earthworms. Sci Rep. 2017 May 2;7(1):1362.
- 80. Huerta Lwanga E, Gertsen H, Gooren H, Peters P, Salánki T, Van Der Ploeg M, et al. Microplastics in the Terrestrial Ecosystem: Implications for *Lumbricus terrestris* (Oligochaeta, Lumbricidae). Environ Sci Technol. 2016 Mar 1;50(5):2685–91.
- Leslie HA, Van Velzen MJM, Brandsma SH, Vethaak AD, Garcia-Vallejo JJ, Lamoree MH. Discovery and quantification of plastic particle pollution in human blood. Environ Int. 2022 May;163:107199.
- 82. Wright SL, Thompson RC, Galloway TS. The physical impacts of microplastics on marine organisms: A review. Environ Pollut. 2013 Jul;178:483–92.
- 83. Franzellitti S, Canesi L, Auguste M, Wathsala RHGR, Fabbri E. Microplastic exposure and effects in aquatic organisms: A physiological perspective. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol. 2019 May;68:37–51.
- 84. Hu L, Chernick M, Lewis AM, Ferguson PL, Hinton DE. Chronic microfiber exposure in adult Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). Corriero A, editor. PLOS ONE. 2020 Mar 9;15(3):e0229962.
- 85. Revel M, Châtel A, Mouneyrac C. Micro(nano)plastics: A threat to human health? Curr Opin Environ Sci Health. 2018 Feb;1:17–23.
- 86. Prata JC. Airborne microplastics: Consequences to human health? Environ Pollut. 2018 Mar;234:115–26.
- 87. Schwabl P, Köppel S, Königshofer P, Bucsics T, Trauner M, Reiberger T, et al. Detection of Various Microplastics in Human Stool: A Prospective Case Series. Ann Intern Med. 2019 Oct 1;171(7):453–7.

- Karami A, Golieskardi A, Keong Choo C, Larat V, Galloway TS, Salamatinia B. The presence of microplastics in commercial salts from different countries. Sci Rep. 2017 Apr 6;7(1):46173.
- 89. Cox KD, Covernton GA, Davies HL, Dower JF, Juanes F, Dudas SE. Human Consumption of Microplastics. Environ Sci Technol. 2019 Jun 18;53(12):7068–74.
- 90. Tong H, Jiang Q, Hu X, Zhong X. Occurrence and identification of microplastics in tap water from China. Chemosphere. 2020 Aug;252:126493.
- 91. Mason SA, Welch VG, Neratko J. Synthetic Polymer Contamination in Bottled Water. Front Chem. 2018 Sep 11;6:407.
- Lehel J, Murphy S. Microplastics in the Food Chain: Food Safety and Environmental Aspects. In: De Voogt P, editor. Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology Volume 259 [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2021 [cited 2024 Mar 24]. p. 1–49. (Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology; vol. 259). Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/398_2021_77
- Van Cauwenberghe L, Claessens M, Vandegehuchte MB, Janssen CR. Microplastics are taken up by mussels (Mytilus edulis) and lugworms (Arenicola marina) living in natural habitats. Environ Pollut. 2015 Apr;199:10–7.
- 94. Van Cauwenberghe L, Janssen CR. Microplastics in bivalves cultured for human consumption. Environ Pollut. 2014 Oct;193:65–70.
- 95. Deng J, Ibrahim MS, Tan LY, Yeo XY, Lee YA, Park SJ, et al. Microplastics released from food containers can suppress lysosomal activity in mouse macrophages. J Hazard Mater. 2022 Aug;435:128980.
- Mohamed Nor NH, Kooi M, Diepens NJ, Koelmans AA. Lifetime Accumulation of Microplastic in Children and Adults. Environ Sci Technol. 2021 Apr 20;55(8):5084– 96.
- 97. Bai CL, Liu LY, Hu YB, Zeng EY, Guo Y. Microplastics: A review of analytical methods, occurrence and characteristics in food, and potential toxicities to biota. Sci Total Environ. 2022 Feb;806:150263.
- 98. Prata JC. Airborne microplastics: Consequences to human health? Environ Pollut. 2018 Mar;234:115–26.
- Kole PJ, Löhr AJ, Van Belleghem F, Ragas A. Wear and Tear of Tyres: A Stealthy Source of Microplastics in the Environment. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Oct 20;14(10):1265.

- 100. Santos AG, Da Rocha GO, De Andrade JB. Occurrence of the potent mutagens 2nitrobenzanthrone and 3-nitrobenzanthrone in fine airborne particles. Sci Rep. 2019 Jan 9;9(1):1.
- 101. Dris R, Gasperi J, Saad M, Mirande C, Tassin B. Synthetic fibers in atmospheric fallout: A source of microplastics in the environment? Mar Pollut Bull. 2016 Mar;104(1–2):290–3.
- 102. Dris R, Gasperi J, Rocher V, Saad M, Renault N, Tassin B. Microplastic contamination in an urban area: a case study in Greater Paris. Environ Chem. 2015;12(5):592.
- 103. Chen G, Feng Q, Wang J. Mini-review of microplastics in the atmosphere and their risks to humans. Sci Total Environ. 2020 Feb;703:135504.
- 104. Tunahan Kaya A, Yurtsever M, Çiftçi Bayraktar S. Ubiquitous exposure to microfiber pollution in the air. Eur Phys J Plus. 2018 Nov;133(11):488.
- 105. Xing YF, Xu YH, Shi MH, Lian YX. The impact of PM2.5 on the human respiratory system. J Thorac Dis. 2016 Jan;8(1):E69-74.
- 106. Lehner R, Weder C, Petri-Fink A, Rothen-Rutishauser B. Emergence of Nanoplastic in the Environment and Possible Impact on Human Health. Environ Sci Technol. 2019 Feb 19;53(4):1748–65.
- 107. Dris R, Gasperi J, Saad M, Mirande C, Tassin B. Synthetic fibers in atmospheric fallout: A source of microplastics in the environment? Mar Pollut Bull. 2016 Mar;104(1–2):290–3.
- 108. Lei K, Qiao F, Liu Q, Wei Z, Qi H, Cui S, et al. Microplastics releasing from personal care and cosmetic products in China. Mar Pollut Bull. 2017 Oct;123(1– 2):122–6.
- 109. De Falco F, Gullo MP, Gentile G, Di Pace E, Cocca M, Gelabert L, et al. Evaluation of microplastic release caused by textile washing processes of synthetic fabrics. Environ Pollut. 2018 May;236:916–25.
- 110. Yang L, Qiao F, Lei K, Li H, Kang Y, Cui S, et al. Microfiber release from different fabrics during washing. Environ Pollut. 2019 Jun;249:136–43.
- 111. Desai P, Patlolla RR, Singh M. Interaction of nanoparticles and cell-penetrating peptides with skin for transdermal drug delivery. Mol Membr Biol. 2010 Oct;27(7):247–59.
- 112. Schneider M, Stracke F, Hansen S, Schaefer UF. Nanoparticles and their interactions with the dermal barrier. Dermatoendocrinol. 2009 Jul;1(4):197–206.

- 113. Desai P, Patlolla RR, Singh M. Interaction of nanoparticles and cell-penetrating peptides with skin for transdermal drug delivery. Mol Membr Biol. 2010 Oct;27(7):247–59.
- 114. Vogt A, Combadiere B, Hadam S, Stieler KM, Lademann J, Schaefer H, et al. 40nm, but not 750 or 1,500nm, Nanoparticles Enter Epidermal CD1a+ Cells after Transcutaneous Application on Human Skin. J Invest Dermatol. 2006 Jun;126(6):1316–22.
- 115. Yacobi NR, DeMaio L, Xie J, Hamm-Alvarez SF, Borok Z, Kim KJ, et al. Polystyrene nanoparticle trafficking across alveolar epithelium. Nanomedicine Nanotechnol Biol Med. 2008 Jun;4(2):139–45.
- 116. Kermanizadeh A, Balharry D, Wallin H, Loft S, Møller P. Nanomaterial translocation–the biokinetics, tissue accumulation, toxicity and fate of materials in secondary organs–a review. Crit Rev Toxicol. 2015 Nov 26;45(10):837–72.
- 117. Herath M, Hosie S, Bornstein JC, Franks AE, Hill-Yardin EL. The Role of the Gastrointestinal Mucus System in Intestinal Homeostasis: Implications for Neurological Disorders. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020 May 28;10:248.
- 118. Schraufnagel DE. The health effects of ultrafine particles. Exp Mol Med. 2020 Mar;52(3):311–7.
- 119. Zeytin S, Wagner G, Mackay-Roberts N, Gerdts G, Schuirmann E, Klockmann S, et al. Quantifying microplastic translocation from feed to the fillet in European sea bass Dicentrarchus labrax. Mar Pollut Bull. 2020 Jul;156:111210.
- 120. Boland S, Baeza-Squiban A, Fournier T, Houcine O, Gendron MC, Chévrier M, et al. Diesel exhaust particles are taken up by human airway epithelial cells in vitro and alter cytokine production. Am J Physiol-Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 1999 Apr 1;276(4):L604–13.
- 121. Volkheimer G. HEMATOGENOUS DISSEMINATION OF INGESTED POLYVINYL CHLORIDE PARTICLES. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1975 Jan;246(1):164–71.
- 122. Volkheimer G. Persorption of Particles: Physiology and Pharmacology. In: Advances in Pharmacology [Internet]. Elsevier; 1977 [cited 2024 Mar 25]. p. 163– 87. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S105435890860188X
- 123. Cooper DM, Loxham M. Particulate matter and the airway epithelium: the special case of the underground? Eur Respir Rev. 2019 Sep 30;28(153):190066.
- 124. Vancamelbeke M, Vermeire S. The intestinal barrier: a fundamental role in health and disease. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017 Sep 2;11(9):821–34.

- 125. Xu M, Halimu G, Zhang Q, Song Y, Fu X, Li Y, et al. Internalization and toxicity: A preliminary study of effects of nanoplastic particles on human lung epithelial cell. Sci Total Environ. 2019 Dec;694:133794.
- 126. Constant DA, Nice TJ, Rauch I. Innate immune sensing by epithelial barriers. Curr Opin Immunol. 2021 Dec;73:1–8.
- 127. Grainger JR, Konkel JE, Zangerle-Murray T, Shaw TN. Macrophages in gastrointestinal homeostasis and inflammation. Pflüg Arch - Eur J Physiol. 2017 Apr;469(3–4):527–39.
- 128. Ramsperger AFRM, Jasinski J, Völkl M, Witzmann T, Meinhart M, Jérôme V, et al. Supposedly identical microplastic particles substantially differ in their material properties influencing particle-cell interactions and cellular responses. J Hazard Mater. 2022 Mar;425:127961.
- 129. Stock V, Laurisch C, Franke J, Dönmez MH, Voss L, Böhmert L, et al. Uptake and cellular effects of PE, PP, PET and PVC microplastic particles. Toxicol In Vitro. 2021 Feb;70:105021.
- 130. Völkl M, Jérôme V, Weig A, Jasinski J, Meides N, Strohriegl P, et al. Pristine and artificially-aged polystyrene microplastic particles differ in regard to cellular response. J Hazard Mater. 2022 Aug;435:128955.
- 131. Raftis JB, Miller MR. Nanoparticle translocation and multi-organ toxicity: A particularly small problem. Nano Today. 2019 Jun;26:8–12.
- 132. Hampton HR, Chtanova T. Lymphatic Migration of Immune Cells. Front Immunol. 2019 May 28;10:1168.
- 133. Owen RL. Uptake and transport of intestinal macromolecules and microorganisms by M cells in Peyer's patches— a personal and historical perspective. Semin Immunol. 1999 Jun;11(3):157–63.
- 134. Campagnolo L, Massimiani M, Vecchione L, Piccirilli D, Toschi N, Magrini A, et al. Silver nanoparticles inhaled during pregnancy reach and affect the placenta and the foetus. Nanotoxicology. 2017 May 28;11(5):687–98.
- 135. Miller MR, Raftis JB, Langrish JP, McLean SG, Samutrtai P, Connell SP, et al. Inhaled Nanoparticles Accumulate at Sites of Vascular Disease. ACS Nano. 2017 May 23;11(5):4542–52.
- 136. Mahmoudi M, Lynch I, Ejtehadi MR, Monopoli MP, Bombelli FB, Laurent S. Protein-Nanoparticle Interactions: Opportunities and Challenges. Chem Rev. 2011 Sep 14;111(9):5610–37.

- 137. Corbo C, Molinaro R, Parodi A, Toledano Furman NE, Salvatore F, Tasciotti E. The impact of nanoparticle protein corona on cytotoxicity, immunotoxicity and target drug delivery. Nanomed. 2016 Jan;11(1):81–100.
- 138. Baimanov D, Cai R, Chen C. Understanding the Chemical Nature of Nanoparticle– Protein Interactions. Bioconjug Chem. 2019 Jul 17;30(7):1923–37.
- 139. Kihara S, Van Der Heijden NJ, Seal CK, Mata JP, Whitten AE, Köper I, et al. Soft and Hard Interactions between Polystyrene Nanoplastics and Human Serum Albumin Protein Corona. Bioconjug Chem. 2019 Apr 17;30(4):1067–76.
- 140. Walczyk D, Bombelli FB, Monopoli MP, Lynch I, Dawson KA. What the Cell "Sees" in Bionanoscience. J Am Chem Soc. 2010 Apr 28;132(16):5761–8.
- 141. Cao J, Yang Q, Jiang J, Dalu T, Kadushkin A, Singh J, et al. Coronas of micro/nano plastics: a key determinant in their risk assessments. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2022 Aug 6;19(1):55.
- 142. Walczak AP, Kramer E, Hendriksen PJM, Tromp P, Helsper JPFG, Van Der Zande M, et al. Translocation of differently sized and charged polystyrene nanoparticles in *in vitro* intestinal cell models of increasing complexity. Nanotoxicology. 2015 May 19;9(4):453–61.
- 143. Luo H, Du Q, Zhong Z, Xu Y, Peng J. Protein-coated microplastics corona complex: An underestimated risk of microplastics. Sci Total Environ. 2022 Dec;851:157948.
- 144. Du T, Yu X, Shao S, Li T, Xu S, Wu L. Aging of Nanoplastics Significantly Affects Protein Corona Composition Thus Enhancing Macrophage Uptake. Environ Sci Technol. 2023 Feb 28;57(8):3206–17.
- 145. Liu L, Xu K, Zhang B, Ye Y, Zhang Q, Jiang W. Cellular internalization and release of polystyrene microplastics and nanoplastics. Sci Total Environ. 2021 Jul;779:146523.
- 146. Chen Y, Ling Y, Li X, Hu J, Cao C, He D. Size-dependent cellular internalization and effects of polystyrene microplastics in microalgae P. helgolandica var. tsingtaoensis and S. quadricauda. J Hazard Mater. 2020 Nov;399:123092.
- 147. Dos Santos T, Varela J, Lynch I, Salvati A, Dawson KA. Quantitative Assessment of the Comparative Nanoparticle-Uptake Efficiency of a Range of Cell Lines. Small. 2011 Dec 2;7(23):3341–9.
- 148. Mani I, Pandey KN. Emerging concepts of receptor endocytosis and concurrent intracellular signaling: Mechanisms of guanylyl cyclase/natriuretic peptide receptor-A activation and trafficking. Cell Signal. 2019 Aug;60:17–30.

- 149. Doherty GJ, McMahon HT. Mechanisms of Endocytosis. Annu Rev Biochem. 2009 Jun 1;78(1):857–902.
- 150. Kaksonen M, Roux A. Mechanisms of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2018 May;19(5):313–26.
- 151. Xu D, Ma Y, Han X, Chen Y. Systematic toxicity evaluation of polystyrene nanoplastics on mice and molecular mechanism investigation about their internalization into Caco-2 cells. J Hazard Mater. 2021 Sep;417:126092.
- 152. Rossi G, Barnoud J, Monticelli L. Polystyrene Nanoparticles Perturb Lipid Membranes. J Phys Chem Lett. 2014 Jan 2;5(1):241–6.
- 153. Jin Y, Lu L, Tu W, Luo T, Fu Z. Impacts of polystyrene microplastic on the gut barrier, microbiota and metabolism of mice. Sci Total Environ. 2019 Feb;649:308– 17.
- 154. Qu M, Liu Y, Xu K, Wang D. Activation of p38 MAPK Signaling-Mediated Endoplasmic Reticulum Unfolded Protein Response by Nanopolystyrene Particles. Adv Biosyst. 2019 Apr;3(4):1800325.
- 155. Treyer A, Pujato M, Pechuan X, Müsch A. Iterative sorting of apical and basolateral cargo in Madin–Darby canine kidney cells. Brennwald PJ, editor. Mol Biol Cell. 2016 Jul 15;27(14):2259–71.
- 156. Horstmann H, Ng CP, Tang BL, Hong W. Ultrastructural characterization of endoplasmic reticulum — Golgi transport containers (EGTC). J Cell Sci. 2002 Nov 15;115(22):4263–73.
- 157. Lim SL, Ng CT, Zou L, Lu Y, Chen J, Bay BH, et al. Targeted metabolomics reveals differential biological effects of nanoplastics and nanoZnO in human lung cells. Nanotoxicology. 2019 Sep 14;13(8):1117–32.
- 158. Cordani M, Somoza Á. Targeting autophagy using metallic nanoparticles: a promising strategy for cancer treatment. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2019 Apr;76(7):1215–42.
- 159. Besseling E, Wang B, Lürling M, Koelmans AA. Nanoplastic Affects Growth of *S. obliquus* and Reproduction of *D. magna*. Environ Sci Technol. 2014 Oct 21;48(20):12336–43.
- 160. Liu Z, Cai M, Yu P, Chen M, Wu D, Zhang M, et al. Age-dependent survival, stress defense, and AMPK in Daphnia pulex after short-term exposure to a polystyrene nanoplastic. Aquat Toxicol. 2018 Nov;204:1–8.
- 161. Jeong J, Choi J. Adverse outcome pathways potentially related to hazard identification of microplastics based on toxicity mechanisms. Chemosphere. 2019 Sep;231:249–55.

- 162. Bedard K, Krause KH. The NOX Family of ROS-Generating NADPH Oxidases: Physiology and Pathophysiology. Physiol Rev. 2007 Jan;87(1):245–313.
- 163. Riera Romo M, Pérez-Martínez D, Castillo Ferrer C. Innate immunity in vertebrates: an overview. Immunology. 2016 Jun;148(2):125–39.
- 164. Gong T, Liu L, Jiang W, Zhou R. DAMP-sensing receptors in sterile inflammation and inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2020 Feb;20(2):95–112.
- 165. De Lorenzo G, Ferrari S, Cervone F, Okun E. Extracellular DAMPs in Plants and Mammals: Immunity, Tissue Damage and Repair. Trends Immunol. 2018 Nov;39(11):937–50.
- 166. Shen H, Kreisel D, Goldstein DR. Processes of Sterile Inflammation. J Immunol. 2013 Sep 15;191(6):2857–63.
- 167. Greven A, Merk T, Karagöz F, Mohr K, Klapper M, Jovanović B, et al. Polycarbonate and polystyrene nanoplastic particles act as stressors to the innate immune system of fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*). Environ Toxicol Chem. 2016 Dec;35(12):3093–100.
- 168. Zhang C, Chen J, Ma S, Sun Z, Wang Z. Microplastics May Be a Significant Cause of Male Infertility. Am J Mens Health. 2022 May;16(3):155798832210965.
- 169. Yang ZS, Bai YL, Jin CH, Na J, Zhang R, Gao Y, et al. Evidence on Invasion of Blood, Adipose Tissues, Nervous System and Reproductive System of Mice After a Single Oral Exposure: Nanoplastics versus Microplastics. Biomed Environ Sci BES. 2022 Nov 20;35(11):1025–37.
- 170. Jin H, Ma T, Sha X, Liu Z, Zhou Y, Meng X, et al. Polystyrene microplastics induced male reproductive toxicity in mice. J Hazard Mater. 2021 Jan;401:123430.
- 171. Li D, Sun W, Jiang X, Yu Z, Xia Y, Cheng S, et al. Polystyrene nanoparticles enhance the adverse effects of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate on male reproductive system in mice. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2022 Oct;245:114104.
- 172. Deng Y, Yan Z, Shen R, Huang Y, Ren H, Zhang Y. Enhanced reproductive toxicities induced by phthalates contaminated microplastics in male mice (Mus musculus). J Hazard Mater. 2021 Mar;406:124644.
- 173. Xie X, Deng T, Duan J, Xie J, Yuan J, Chen M. Exposure to polystyrene microplastics causes reproductive toxicity through oxidative stress and activation of the p38 MAPK signaling pathway. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2020 Mar;190:110133.
- 174. Li L, Zhao X, Li Z, Song K. COVID-19: Performance study of microplastic inhalation risk posed by wearing masks. J Hazard Mater. 2021 Jun;411:124955.

- 175. Zhou S, Xi Y, Chen Y, Zhang Z, Wu C, Yan W, et al. Ovarian Dysfunction Induced by Chronic Whole-Body PM2.5 Exposure. Small. 2020 Aug;16(33):2000845.
- 176. Feichtinger W. OPINION. Hum Reprod. 1991 Sep;6(8):1170-5.
- 177. Mahalingaiah S, Hart JE, Laden F, Farland LV, Hewlett MM, Chavarro J, et al. Adult air pollution exposure and risk of infertility in the Nurses' Health Study II. Hum Reprod. 2016 Mar;31(3):638–47.
- 178. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Bourguignon JP, Giudice LC, Hauser R, Prins GS, Soto AM, et al. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society scientific statement. Endocr Rev. 2009 Jun;30(4):293–342.
- 179. Ding T, Yan W, Zhou T, Shen W, Wang T, Li M, et al. Endocrine disrupting chemicals impact on ovarian aging: Evidence from epidemiological and experimental evidence. Environ Pollut. 2022 Jul;305:119269.
- 180. Wang J, Li Y, Lu L, Zheng M, Zhang X, Tian H, et al. Polystyrene microplastics cause tissue damages, sex-specific reproductive disruption and transgenerational effects in marine medaka (Oryzias melastigma). Environ Pollut. 2019 Nov;254:113024.
- 181. Zhang Y, Wang X, Zhao Y, Zhao J, Yu T, Yao Y, et al. Reproductive toxicity of microplastics in female mice and their offspring from induction of oxidative stress. Environ Pollut. 2023 Jun;327:121482.
- 182. Liu Z, Zhuan Q, Zhang L, Meng L, Fu X, Hou Y. Polystyrene microplastics induced female reproductive toxicity in mice. J Hazard Mater. 2022 Feb;424:127629.
- 183. Medley EA, Spratlen MJ, Yan B, Herbstman JB, Deyssenroth MA. A Systematic Review of the Placental Translocation of Micro- and Nanoplastics. Curr Environ Health Rep. 2023 Feb 27;10(2):99–111.
- 184. Dusza HM, Katrukha EA, Nijmeijer SM, Akhmanova A, Vethaak AD, Walker DI, et al. Uptake, Transport, and Toxicity of Pristine and Weathered Micro- and Nanoplastics in Human Placenta Cells. Environ Health Perspect. 2022 Sep;130(9):097006.
- 185. Wick P, Malek A, Manser P, Meili D, Maeder-Althaus X, Diener L, et al. Barrier Capacity of Human Placenta for Nanosized Materials. Environ Health Perspect. 2010 Mar;118(3):432–6.
- 186. Ragusa A, Svelato A, Santacroce C, Catalano P, Notarstefano V, Carnevali O, et al. Plasticenta: First evidence of microplastics in human placenta. Environ Int. 2021 Jan;146:106274.

- 187. Peng L, Fu D, Qi H, Lan CQ, Yu H, Ge C. Micro- and nano-plastics in marine environment: Source, distribution and threats — A review. Sci Total Environ. 2020 Jan;698:134254.
- 188. Wright SL, Kelly FJ. Plastic and Human Health: A Micro Issue? Environ Sci Technol. 2017 Jun 20;51(12):6634–47.
- 189. Stock V, Böhmert L, Lisicki E, Block R, Cara-Carmona J, Pack LK, et al. Uptake and effects of orally ingested polystyrene microplastic particles in vitro and in vivo. Arch Toxicol. 2019 Jul;93(7):1817–33.
- 190. Sharma VK, Ma X, Lichtfouse E, Robert D. Nanoplastics are potentially more dangerous than microplastics. Environ Chem Lett. 2023 Aug;21(4):1933–6.
- 191. Bouwmeester H, Hollman PCH, Peters RJB. Potential Health Impact of Environmentally Released Micro- and Nanoplastics in the Human Food Production Chain: Experiences from Nanotoxicology. Environ Sci Technol. 2015 Aug 4;49(15):8932–47.
- 192. Jin Y, Xia J, Pan Z, Yang J, Wang W, Fu Z. Polystyrene microplastics induce microbiota dysbiosis and inflammation in the gut of adult zebrafish. Environ Pollut. 2018 Apr;235:322–9.
- 193. Deng Y, Zhang Y, Lemos B, Ren H. Tissue accumulation of microplastics in mice and biomarker responses suggest widespread health risks of exposure. Sci Rep. 2017 Apr 24;7(1):46687.
- 194. World Health Organization. Microplastics in drinking-water [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 [cited 2024 Mar 26]. 101 p. Available from: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/326499
- 195. Dietert RR. Misregulated inflammation as an outcome of early-life exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals. Rev Environ Health [Internet]. 2012 Jan 1 [cited 2024 Mar 26];27(2–3). Available from: https://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1515/reveh-2012-0020/html
- 196. Martinez-Arguelles DB, Papadopoulos V. Mechanisms Mediating Environmental Chemical-Induced Endocrine Disruption in the Adrenal Gland. Front Endocrinol [Internet]. 2015 Mar 4 [cited 2024 Mar 26];6. Available from: http://www.frontiersin.org/Cellular_Endocrinology/10.3389/fendo.2015.00029/abstr act
- 197. Yang X, Gilman-Sachs A, Kwak-Kim J. Ovarian and endometrial immunity during the ovarian cycle. J Reprod Immunol. 2019 Jun;133:7–14.
- 198. Miller JE, Ahn SH, Monsanto SP, Khalaj K, Koti M, Tayade C. Implications of immune dysfunction on endometriosis associated infertility. Oncotarget. 2017 Jan 24;8(4):7138–47.

- 199. Amereh F, Babaei M, Eslami A, Fazelipour S, Rafiee M. The emerging risk of exposure to nano(micro)plastics on endocrine disturbance and reproductive toxicity: From a hypothetical scenario to a global public health challenge. Environ Pollut. 2020 Jun;261:114158.
- 200. Rubio L, Barguilla I, Domenech J, Marcos R, Hernández A. Biological effects, including oxidative stress and genotoxic damage, of polystyrene nanoparticles in different human hematopoietic cell lines. J Hazard Mater. 2020 Nov;398:122900.
- 201. Prins JR, Marissen LM, Scherjon SA, Hoek A, Cantineau AEP. Is there an immune modulating role for follicular fluid in endometriosis? A narrative review. Reproduction. 2020 Jan;159(1):R45–54.
- 202. Alhussien MN, Dang AK. Potential roles of neutrophils in maintaining the health and productivity of dairy cows during various physiological and physiopathological conditions: a review. Immunol Res. 2019 Feb;67(1):21–38.
- 203. OECD. Test No. 407: Repeated Dose 28-day Oral Toxicity Study in Rodents [Internet]. OECD; 2008 [cited 2024 Mar 30]. (OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 4). Available from: https://www.oecdilibrary.org/environment/test-no-407-repeated-dose-28-day-oral-toxicity-study-inrodents_9789264070684-en
- 204. Ajayi AF, Akhigbe RE. Staging of the estrous cycle and induction of estrus in experimental rodents: an update. Fertil Res Pract. 2020 Dec;6(1):5.
- 205. Smith BJ, Plowchalk DR, Sipes IG, Mattison DR. Comparison of random and serial sections in assessment of ovarian toxicity. Reprod Toxicol. 1991 Jan;5(4):379–83.
- 206. Myers M, Britt KL, Wreford NGM, Ebling FJP, Kerr JB. Methods for quantifying follicular numbers within the mouse ovary. Reproduction. 2004 May;127(5):569–80.
- 207. Lim X. Microplastics are everywhere but are they harmful? Nature. 2021 May 6;593(7857):22–5.
- 208. Kosuth M, Mason SA, Wattenberg EV. Anthropogenic contamination of tap water, beer, and sea salt. Zhou Z, editor. PLOS ONE. 2018 Apr 11;13(4):e0194970.
- 209. Wright SL, Ulke J, Font A, Chan KLA, Kelly FJ. Atmospheric microplastic deposition in an urban environment and an evaluation of transport. Environ Int. 2020 Mar;136:105411.
- 210. OECD. Global Plastics Outlook: Economic Drivers, Environmental Impacts and Policy Options [Internet]. OECD; 2022 [cited 2024 Apr 1]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/global-plastics-outlook_de747aef-en
- 211. Ferronato N, Torretta V. Waste Mismanagement in Developing Countries: A Review of Global Issues. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019 Mar 24;16(6):1060.

- 212. Browning S, Beymer-Farris B, Seay JR. Addressing the challenges associated with plastic waste disposal and management in developing countries. Curr Opin Chem Eng. 2021 Jun;32:100682.
- 213. Rillig MC, Lehmann A. Microplastic in terrestrial ecosystems. Science. 2020 Jun 26;368(6498):1430–1.
- 214. Ding L, Mao RF, Guo X, Yang X, Zhang Q, Yang C. Microplastics in surface waters and sediments of the Wei River, in the northwest of China. Sci Total Environ. 2019 Jun;667:427–34.
- 215. Nielsen TD, Hasselbalch J, Holmberg K, Stripple J. Politics and the plastic crisis: A review throughout the plastic life cycle. WIREs Energy Environ. 2020 Jan;9(1):e360.
- 216. Horton AA, Barnes DKA. Microplastic pollution in a rapidly changing world: Implications for remote and vulnerable marine ecosystems. Sci Total Environ. 2020 Oct;738:140349.
- 217. Häder DP, Banaszak AT, Villafañe VE, Narvarte MA, González RA, Helbling EW. Anthropogenic pollution of aquatic ecosystems: Emerging problems with global implications. Sci Total Environ. 2020 Apr;713:136586.
- 218. Walczak AP, Hendriksen PJM, Woutersen RA, Van Der Zande M, Undas AK, Helsdingen R, et al. Bioavailability and biodistribution of differently charged polystyrene nanoparticles upon oral exposure in rats. J Nanoparticle Res. 2015 May;17(5):231.
- 219. Yan W, Hamid N, Deng S, Jia PP, Pei DS. Individual and combined toxicogenetic effects of microplastics and heavy metals (Cd, Pb, and Zn) perturb gut microbiota homeostasis and gonadal development in marine medaka (Oryzias melastigma). J Hazard Mater. 2020 Oct;397:122795.
- 220. Mu X, Qi S, Liu J, Yuan L, Huang Y, Xue J, et al. Toxicity and behavioral response of zebrafish exposed to combined microplastic and bisphenol analogues. Environ Chem Lett. 2022 Feb;20(1):41–8.
- 221. Pellicer A, Lightman A, Diamond MP, Russell JB, DeCherney AH. Outcome of in vitro fertilization in women with low response to ovarian stimulation. Fertil Steril. 1987 May;47(5):812–5.
- 222. Garcia JE, Jones GS, Acosta AA, Wright G. Human menopausal gonadotropin/human chorionic gonadotropin follicular maturation for oocyte aspiration: Phase II, 1981. Fertil Steril. 1983 Feb;39(2):174–9.
- 223. Elter K, Kavak ZN, Gokaslan H, Pekin T. Antral follicle assessment after downregulation may be a useful tool for predicting pregnancy loss in *in vitro* fertilization pregnancies. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2005 Jul;21(1):33–7.

- 224. Monniaux D, Cadoret V, Clément F, Dalbies-Tran R, Elis S, Fabre S, et al. Folliculogenesis. In: Encyclopedia of Endocrine Diseases [Internet]. Elsevier; 2019 [cited 2024 Apr 1]. p. 377–98. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780128012383645506
- 225. Bhagavan NV, Ha CE. Endocrine Metabolism V. In: Essentials of Medical Biochemistry [Internet]. Elsevier; 2015 [cited 2024 Apr 1]. p. 589–606. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780124166875000324
- 226. Hamilton-Fairley D. Anovulation. BMJ. 2003 Sep 6;327(7414):546–9.
- 227. Rababa'h AM, Matani BR, Yehya A. An update of polycystic ovary syndrome: causes and therapeutics options. Heliyon. 2022 Oct;8(10):e11010.
- 228. Balen AH, Rutherford AJ. Managing anovulatory infertility and polycystic ovary syndrome. BMJ. 2007 Sep 29;335(7621):663–6.
- 229. La Marca A, Sunkara SK. Individualization of controlled ovarian stimulation in IVF using ovarian reserve markers: from theory to practice. Hum Reprod Update. 2014 Jan 1;20(1):124–40.
- 230. Abu-Halima M, Becker LS, Ayesh BM, Baus SL, Hamza A, Fischer U, et al. Characterization of micro-RNA in women with different ovarian reserve. Sci Rep. 2021 Jun 25;11(1):13351.
- 231. La Marca A, Broekmans FJ, Volpe A, Fauser BC, Macklon NS, on behalf of the ESHRE Special Interest Group for Reproductive Endocrinology AMH Round Table. Anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH): what do we still need to know? Hum Reprod. 2009 Sep 1;24(9):2264–75.
- 232. Franks S, Hardy K. What causes anovulation in polycystic ovary syndrome? Curr Opin Endocr Metab Res. 2020 Jun;12:59–65.
- 233. Wei Z, Wang Y, Wang S, Xie J, Han Q, Chen M. Comparing the effects of polystyrene microplastics exposure on reproduction and fertility in male and female mice. Toxicology. 2022 Jan;465:153059.
- 234. Laganà AS, Rossetti P, Buscema M, La Vignera S, Condorelli RA, Gullo G, et al. Metabolism and Ovarian Function in PCOS Women: A Therapeutic Approach with Inositols. Int J Endocrinol. 2016;2016:1–9.
- 235. Garg D, Tal R. Inositol Treatment and ART Outcomes in Women with PCOS. Int J Endocrinol. 2016;2016:1–9.
- 236. Wang Y, Wei Z, Xu K, Wang X, Gao X, Han Q, et al. The effect and a mechanistic evaluation of polystyrene nanoplastics on a mouse model of type 2 diabetes. Food Chem Toxicol. 2023 Mar;173:113642.

- 237. Yang Z, Dong H, Gao Y, Liu S, Chen L, Ni G, et al. Airborne Nanoplastics Exposure Inducing Irreversible Glucose Increase and Complete Hepatic Insulin Resistance. Environ Sci Technol. 2024 Feb 6;acs.est.3c06468.
- 238. Haddadi A, Kessabi K, Boughammoura S, Rhouma MB, Mlouka R, Banni M, et al. Exposure to microplastics leads to a defective ovarian function and change in cytoskeleton protein expression in rat. Environ Sci Pollut Res. 2022 May;29(23):34594–606.
- 239. Jones K, Sung S. Anovulatory Bleeding. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 [cited 2024 Apr 2]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK549773/
- 240. Hambridge HL, Mumford SL, Mattison DR, Ye A, Pollack AZ, Bloom MS, et al. The influence of sporadic anovulation on hormone levels in ovulatory cycles. Hum Reprod. 2013 Jun 1;28(6):1687–94.
- 241. Hussain M, El-Hakim S, Cahill D. Progesterone supplementation in women with otherwise unexplained recurrent miscarriages. J Hum Reprod Sci. 2012;5(3):248.
- 242. Vom Saal FS, Vandenberg LN. Update on the Health Effects of Bisphenol A: Overwhelming Evidence of Harm. Endocrinology. 2021 Mar 1;162(3):bqaa171.
- 243. Grasselli F, Baratta L, Baioni L, Bussolati S, Ramoni R, Grolli S, et al. Bisphenol A disrupts granulosa cell function. Domest Anim Endocrinol. 2010 Jul;39(1):34–9.
- 244. Cable JK, Grider MH. Physiology, Progesterone. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 [cited 2024 Apr 2]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK558960/
- 245. Critchley HOD, Jones RL, Lea RG, Drudy TA, Kelly RW, Williams ARW, et al. Role of Inflammatory Mediators in Human Endometrium during Progesterone Withdrawal and Early Pregnancy ¹. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1999 Jan;84(1):240–8.
- 246. Shen T, Zhang W, Wang Y, Li H, Wu J, Wang Q, et al. Effects of Microplastic (MP) Exposure at Environmentally Relevant Doses on the Structure, Function, and Transcriptome of the Kidney in Mice. Molecules. 2023 Oct 15;28(20):7104.
- 247. Vagner M, Boudry G, Courcot L, Vincent D, Dehaut A, Duflos G, et al. Experimental evidence that polystyrene nanoplastics cross the intestinal barrier of European seabass. Environ Int. 2022 Aug;166:107340.
- 248. Elizalde-Velázquez A, Carcano AM, Crago J, Green MJ, Shah SA, Cañas-Carrell JE. Translocation, trophic transfer, accumulation and depuration of polystyrene microplastics in Daphnia magna and Pimephales promelas. Environ Pollut. 2020 Apr;259:113937.

- 249. Farrell P, Nelson K. Trophic level transfer of microplastic: Mytilus edulis (L.) to Carcinus maenas (L.). Environ Pollut. 2013 Jun;177:1–3.
- 250. Hou J, Lei Z, Cui L, Hou Y, Yang L, An R, et al. Polystyrene microplastics lead to pyroptosis and apoptosis of ovarian granulosa cells via NLRP3/Caspase-1 signaling pathway in rats. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2021 Apr;212:112012.
- 251. Jin H, Yan M, Pan C, Liu Z, Sha X, Jiang C, et al. Chronic exposure to polystyrene microplastics induced male reproductive toxicity and decreased testosterone levels via the LH-mediated LHR/cAMP/PKA/StAR pathway. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2022 Dec;19(1):13.
- 252. An R, Wang X, Yang L, Zhang J, Wang N, Xu F, et al. Polystyrene microplastics cause granulosa cells apoptosis and fibrosis in ovary through oxidative stress in rats. Toxicology. 2021 Feb;449:152665.